

FAX 4410L/4410NF

Operating Instructions Basic Features



- 1 Getting Started
- 2 Faxing
- 3 Programming
- 4 Troubleshooting

For safe and correct use of this machine, please be sure to read the Safety Information before you use it.

Introduction

This manual describes detailed instructions on the operation and notes about the use of this machine. To get maximum versatility from this machine all operators are requested to read this manual carefully and follow the instructions. Please keep this manual in a handy place near the machine.

Notes:

Some illustrations in this manual might be slightly different from the machine.

Certain options might not be available in some countries. For details, please contact your local dealer.

Caution: Use of controls or adjustment or performance of procedures other than those specified in this manual might result in hazardous radiation exposure. This product (see specification in the Operating Instructions) is considered a class 1 laser device. Safety precautions and interlock mechanisms have been designed to prevent any possible laser beam exposure to the operator. The following marking is attached on the back of the product.



Machine Types

The model names of the machine do not appear in the following pages. Check the type of your machine before reading this manual.

- Type1: 4410L
- Type2: 4410NF

Notes:

Two kinds of size notation are employed in this manual. With this machine refer to the metric version.

For good copy quality, Ricoh recommends that you use genuine Ricoh toner.

Ricoh shall not be responsible for any damage or expense that might result from the use of parts other than genuine Ricoh parts with your Ricoh office products.

Important

Contents of this manual are subject to change without prior notice. In no event will the company be liable for direct, indirect, special, incidental, or consequential damages as a result of handling or operating the machine.

Power Source:

220-240V, 50/60Hz

Please be sure to connect the power cord to a power source as above. For details about the power source, see Chapter 10, "Connecting the Power and Switching On" in the Advanced Features manual.

Trademarks

Adobe® and Acrobat® are registered trademarks of Adobe Systems Incorporated.

 ${\rm Microsoft}^{\circledast}, {\rm Windows}^{\circledcirc}$ and Windows ${\rm NT}^{\circledast}$ are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries.

Other product names used herein are for identification purposes only and might be trademarks of their respective companies. We disclaim any and all rights in those marks.

Note

The proper names of the Windows operating systems are as follows:

- Microsoft[®] Windows[®] 95 operating system
- Microsoft[®] Windows[®] 98 operating system
- Microsoft[®] Windows[®] Millennium Edition (Windows Me)
- Microsoft[®] Windows[®] 2000 Professional
- Microsoft[®] Windows[®] XP Professional
- Microsoft[®] Windows[®] XP Home Edition
- Microsoft[®] Windows[®] 2000 Server
- Microsoft[®] Windows NT[®] Server operating system Version 4.0
- Microsoft[®] Windows NT[®] Workstation operating system Version 4.0

TABLE OF CONTENTS

What Do You Want to Do with This Machine?	1
Notice	3
Safety Information	3
Safety During Operation	3
Important Safety Instructions	5
Grounding	5
Position of the ACAUTION Label	6
ENERGY STAR Program	7
Energy Saver Modes	8
Remarks	10
How to Read This Manual	
Paper Mark	
Manuals for This Machine	14
Basic Features (this manual)	14
Advanced Features (on CD-ROM)	14
Before You Use This Machine	14
NIC FAX Unit Manual (on CD-ROM)	14
NIC FAX Unit CD-ROM Manual	15

1. Getting Started

Machine Types	
Guide to Components	
Front View	
Side View	
Control Panel	
Reading the Display	
Reading the Display and Using Keys	
Standby Display	
Communication Display	
Display Prompts	
Energy Saver Mode Display	
Restricted Access Display	
Turning On or Off the Power	
Turning On the Power	
Turning Off the Power	

2. Faxing

Transmission Modes	29
Switching between Memory Transmission and Immediate Transmission	29
Placing Originals	31
Placing Originals in the ADF	32
Originals Unsuitable for the Auto Document Feeder (ADF)	33
Memory Transmission	34
Canceling a Memory Transmission	36
Before Pressing the Start Key	36
While Scanning the Original	36
When an Original Is Jammed	36
During Transmission	36
While Awaiting Transmission	37
Immediate Transmission	39
If the Connection Could Not Be Made	40
Canceling an Immediate Transmission	41
Before Pressing the Start Key	41
After Pressing the Start Key	41
When an Original Is Jammed	41
Scan Settings	42
Resolution	42
Original Type	44
Changing Scan Settings	44
Dialing	45
Entering Numbers Directly	45
Pause	46
Tone	46
Using Quick Dials	47
Using Speed Dials	48
Using Group Dials	49
When specifying a group with the Group Key	50
Pasantian Madaa	
Reception Modes	
Selecting the neception Mode	
	53

3. Programming

Own Name/Fax Header/Own Fax Number	55
Own Name / Fax Header	56
Programming	
Editing	57
Deleting	58
Own Fax Number	59
Programming	59
Editing	60
Deleting	61
Quick Dial	62
Programming	63
Editing	65
Deleting	66
Quick Dial Key Label (Dial Label)	67
Label paper	69
Speed Dial	71
Speed Dial Programming	71 72
Speed Dial Programming Editing	71 72 74
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting	71 72 74 75
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting Groups	71 72 74 75 77
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting Groups Programming	71 72 74 75 77 77
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting Groups Programming Editing	71 72 74 75 77 77 81
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting Groups Programming Editing Deleting Deleting	71 72 74 75 77 77 81 83
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting Programming Editing Programming Editing Deleting To delete a destination from a group	71 72 74 75 77 77 81 83 83 83
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting Programming Editing Programming Editing Deleting To delete a destination from a group To delete an entire group	71 72 74 75 77 77 81 83 83 83 83
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting Programming Editing Programming Editing Deleting To delete a destination from a group To delete an entire group Entering Characters	71 72 74 75 77 77 81 83 83 83 84 84 86
Speed Dial Programming Editing Deleting Programming Editing Programming Editing Deleting To delete a destination from a group To delete an entire group Entering Characters Available Characters	71 72 74 75 77 77 81 83 83 83 84 84 86 86
Speed Dial	71 72 74 75 77 77 81 83 83 83 84 86 86 86 86

4. Troubleshooting

Loading Paper in the Main Paper Tray	
Replacing the Toner Cartridge	90
Toner Cartridge Storage	92
Adjusting Volume	93
Clearing Original Jams	95
Clearing a Copy, Fax, or Print Jam	96
Error Messages	
Indicators	
Solving Problems	
When Things Don't Go as Expected	
Printing the Help List	
INDEX	

What Do You Want to Do with This Machine?

This is a summary of this machine's features including which pages to consult for detailed information.

I want	Reference
to specify several destinations with a single key	p.49 "Using Group Dials" and p.77 "Groups"
to print Quick Dial key labels that can be at- tached to the control panel so that I can find quickly the Quick Dial with the destination I want to specify programmed in	p.67 "Quick Dial Key Label (Dial Label)"
to check whether a fax transmission was successful or not	p.35 "Checking the Transmission Result (TX Status)", <i>Advanced Features</i>
to find a stored Speed Dial quickly	p.46 "Telephone Directory", Advanced Fea- tures
to send a fax at a specific time	p.5 "Sending at a Specific Time (Send Later)", Advanced Features
to cut down on my telephone bill	p.142 "Economy Transmission", Advanced Features and p.20 "Transfer Request", Ad- vanced Features
to cut down on my paper consumption	p.82 "Two in One", <i>Advanced Features</i> and p.81 "Two-sided Reception", <i>Advanced Features</i>
to prevent many sheets of paper from being printed out if fax messages are received during the night or on holidays	p.143 "Energy Save Timer", Advanced Features
to block out unwanted messages	p.123 "Authorized Reception", Advanced Fea- tures
to send a message on a two-sided original	p.56 "Duplex Original Settings", Advanced Features
to send a fax message which has the large number of pages in one transmission	p.57 "Batch Original Documents Transmis- sion", Advanced Features
to have multiple copies of incoming messages	p.81 "Multi-copy Reception", Advanced Fea- tures
to retry a failed transmission	p.31 "Retrying a Failed Transmission", Ad- vanced Features
to change destination(s) or alter the transmis- sion time for a file queued for transmission	p.27 "Changing Transmission Files", Ad- vanced Features
to find frequently used functions by just press- ing a single key instead of searching through several menus	p.105 "User Function Keys", Advanced Fea- tures
to prevent my message being picked up casu- ally by anyone at the other end	p.7 "Sending Confidential Messages", Ad- vanced Features and p.169 "Personal Boxes", Advanced Features

I want	Reference
to prevent a received message being picked up casually by other people	p.38 "Printing a Confidential Message", <i>Ad</i> - vanced Features and p.43 "Printing Personal Box Messages", <i>Advanced Features</i>
to have backups automatically made of faxes I send	p.140 "Backup File Transmission Settings", Advanced Features
to have backups automatically made of incom- ing faxes	p.136 "Forwarding", <i>Advanced Features</i> and p.169 "Personal Boxes", <i>Advanced Features</i>
to restrict access to the machine to specified users	p.27 "Restricted Access"
to monitor machine usage by user or depart- ment	p.27 "Restricted Access" and p.9 "User Code Transmission", <i>Advanced Features</i>
to receive messages while I am away on a trip	p.136 "Forwarding", Advanced Features
to program in memory a document I often use	p.101 "Auto Documents", Advanced Features
to perform multiple keypad operations with a single key	p.99 "Programs", Advanced Features

A CAUTION:

Use of controls, adjustments, or performance of procedures other than those specified herein may result in hazardous radiation exposure.

Direct (or indirect reflected) eye contact with the laser beam may cause serious eye damage. Safety precautions and interlock mechanisms have been designed to prevent any possible laser beam exposure to the operator.

Safety Information

When using this machine, the following safety precautions should always be followed.

Safety During Operation

In this manual, the following important symbols are used:

A WARNING:

Indicates a potentially hazardous situation which, if instructions are not followed, could result in death or serious injury.

A CAUTION:

Indicates a potentially hazardous situation which, if instructions are not followed, may result in minor or moderate injury or damage to property.

A WARNING:

- Connect the power cord directly into a wall outlet and never use an extension cord.
- Disconnect the power plug (by pulling the plug, not the cable) if the power cable or plug becomes frayed or otherwise damaged.
- To avoid hazardous electric shock or laser radiation exposure, do not remove any covers or screws other than those specified in this manual.
- Turn off the power and disconnect the power plug (by pulling the plug, not the cable) if any of the following occurs:
 - You spill something into the machine.
 - You suspect that your machine needs service or repair.
 - The external housing of your machine has been damaged.
- Do not incinerate spilled toner or used toner. Toner dust might ignite when exposed to an open flame.
- Disposal can take place at an authorized dealer.
- Dispose of used toner cartridges in accordance with the local regulations.
- Make sure that the wall outlet is near the machine and easily accessible.

▲ CAUTION:

- Protect the machine from dampness or wet weather, such as rain and snow.
- Unplug the power cord from the wall outlet before you move the machine. While moving the machine, you should take care that the power cord will not be damaged under the machine.
- When you disconnect the power plug from the wall outlet, always pull the plug (not the cable).
- Do not allow paper clips, staples, or other small metallic objects to fall inside the machine.
- Keep toner (used or unused) and toner cartridges out of reach of children.
- For environmental reasons, do not dispose of the machine or expended supply waste at household waste collection points. Disposal can take place at an authorized dealer.
- The inside of the machine could be very hot. Do not touch the parts with a label indicating "hot surface". Otherwise an injury might occur.

Grounding

In order to prevent potentially hazardous electrical shock, provide means of connecting to the protective grounding conductor in the building, wiring those grounding conductors of power cable and 3 pins plug.

Position of the ACAUTION Label

This machine has a ACAUTION label at the position shown below. For safety, please follow the instructions and handle the machine as indicated.

The inside of the machine becomes very hot. Do not touch the inside. Doing so could result in a burn.



(1)



ENERGY STAR Program



As an ENERGY STAR Partner, we have determined that this machine model meets the ENERGY STAR Guidelines for energy efficiency.

The ENERGY STAR Guidelines intend to establish an international energy-saving system for developing and introducing energy-efficient office equipment to deal with environmental issues, such as global warming.

When a product meets the ENERGY STAR Guidelines for energy efficiency, the Partner shall place the ENERGY STAR logo onto the machine model.

This product was designed to reduce the environmental impact associated with office equipment by means of energy-saving features, such as Low-power mode.

• Low-power Mode

At the factory, this fax machine was set to enter the low power mode 5 minutes after the last operation is completed. To exit the low power mode, press the **[Energy Saver/Clear Modes]** key. The machine can start printing in about 40 seconds from the Energy Saving Standby mode or in about 30 seconds from the Fax Standby Mode.

Specifications

Specification	Power Consumption	Default Time
Without NIC FAX unit in- stalled	2.0W	5 minutes
With NIC FAX unit installed	6.0W	

Energy Saver Modes

Energy Saver mode enables you to avoid using unnecessary power and economize on electricity. Although we recommend you use this mode from the viewpoint of environmental consciousness, you can also turn it off.

When you install this machine for the first time, Energy Saver mode is turned on by default.

Two types of Energy Saver mode are available:

- Fax Standby: Use when you receive faxes regularly.
- Energy Saver Standby: Use when you want to economize on power consumption.

Choose the one that best suits your circumstances.

Even though the control panel display isn't on in Energy Saver mode, indicators that blink or light during communication or reception still work. When the Receive File indicator lights, exit Energy Saver mode and take the appropriate action.

Energy Saver mode type	Status	How long be- fore you can print after exit- ing Energy Sav- er mode	Power consumption *1
Fax Standby	Display is off The machine maintains the heating roller temperature at half the full temperature; warm up takes less time. (Heater half cool)	Within about 30 seconds	Type1: 15W Type2: 20W
Energy Saver Standby	Display is off The machine lets the heating roller cool to room tempera- ture; warm-up takes longer. (Heater off)	Within about 40 seconds	Type1: 2W *2 Type2: 6W

^{*1} When options are not installed.

^{*2} 6W when the NIC FAX unit (option for Type1) is installed.

You can turn Energy Saver mode on or off with the User Parameters. By default, Energy Saver Standby is turned on.

The machine enters Energy Saver mode when:

- Nobody uses the machine for about 5 minutes (the machine automatically enters Energy Saver mode).
- The user holds down the **[Energy Saver/Clear Modes]** key for about 2 seconds.

To exit Energy Saver mode:

- In Energy Saver Standby mode, press the **[Energy Saver/Clear Modes]** key.
- In FAX Standby mode, press any key.
- Place an original.
- Pick up the optional handset or the external telephone handset.

🖉 Note

- □ When you load paper in Energy Saver mode, an error message will not be displayed even if the tray is not pushed in correctly.
- □ After loading paper, press the **[Energy Saver/Clear Modes]** key and check that "Ready" is shown on the display.

Reception in Energy Saver mode

In Energy Saver mode, originals that have been stored in memory are still sent and the machine can still receive messages.

When a message is received in Energy Saver mode, the machine prints it and returns to Energy Saver mode.

Recycled Paper

In accordance with the ENERGY STAR Program, we recommend use of recycled paper which is environmentally friendly. Please contact your sales representative for recommended paper.

Remarks

Be sure to read the following information before you use this machine:

- Do not turn off the power during output. Make sure that output has completed before you turn off the power.
- Do not open the front cover, right cover, lower right cover, main paper tray, or optional paper tray unit while paper is being printed out. The machine will stop printing and paper may become jammed.
- Do not move, tilt, or shake the machine during output.
- Be sure to make a copy of information stored in the machine memory. This information might be deleted when you operate the machine improperly or some trouble occurs with the machine.
- Note beforehand that the company is not liable for damages resulting from malfunctions of the machine, loss of information stored in memory, or use of the machine.
- If sending or receiving an important message by fax , confirm that the message is sent or received with a telephone call.
- Be sure to ventilate the room where the machine is used to maintain a comfortable work environment. If the machine is used for a long period of time in a room with bad ventilation, you may notice an unpleasant odor.
- Sudden changes in temperature or humidity may cause condensation to form inside the machine. This can result in patchy output. In this case, wait a while before reattempting copying or requesting a fax be sent again.

∰Important

□ Make sure that 100% appears on the display before you turn off the power. If the power is turned off for 12 hours or longer, all documents stored in memory are deleted.

🖉 Note

□ If the power is turned off, fax documents cannot be received. The power should normally be turned on.

The fax machines in current use are classified by communication speed. Internationally defined standards include G4, G3, and G2. This machine can communicate with G3 fax machines.

When the other party's machine does not support the same functions as this machine, settings made with those functions might be invalid or transmission might not be possible.

- If the other party's machine does not support the resolution at which you are sending, this machine automatically switches to a resolution which is supported. See p.42 "Resolution".
- Polling Reception requires that the other party's machine can perform Polling Transmission. See p.13 "Polling Reception", *Advanced Features*.

If the other party's machine does not have paper loaded of the same size and orientation as your original, the message may be split and printed on two or more sheets, or reduced and printed on one sheet.

• For example, if the other party's machine has A5 paper loaded and it receives a A4 size document, the A4 size image will be reduced to A5 size and printed on A5 paper. For further information, see p.84 "When There Is No Paper of the Correct Size", *Advanced Features*.

How to Read This Manual

Symbols

The following set of symbols is used in this manual.

A WARNING:

This symbol indicates a potentially hazardous situation that might result in death or serious injury when you misuse the machine without following the instructions under this symbol. Be sure to read the instructions, all of which are described in the Safety Information section.

A CAUTION:

This symbol indicates a potentially hazardous situation that might result in minor or moderate injury or property damage that does not involve personal injury when you misuse the machine without following the instructions under this symbol. Be sure to read the instructions, all of which are described in the Safety Information section.

* The statements above are notes for your safety.

∰Important

If this instruction is not followed, paper might be misfed, originals might be damaged, or data might be lost. Be sure to read this.

Preparation

This symbol indicates information or preparations required prior to operating.

🖉 Note

This symbol indicates precautions for operation, or actions to take after abnormal operation.

Limitation

This symbol indicates numerical limits, functions that cannot be used together, or conditions in which a particular function cannot be used.

PReference

This symbol indicates a reference.

[]

Keys built into the control panel of the machine.

Paper Mark

Paper directions in this book are shown as follows.



Portrait direction for originals is shown as \square , and landscape direction for originals is shown as \square .

Portrait direction for paper in the paper tray is shown as \square , and landscape direction for paper in the paper tray is shown as \square .

🖉 Note

□ □ represents originals or paper.

PReference

For details about the Auto Document Feeder (ADF), see p.18 "Guide to Components".

Manuals for This Machine

Basic Features (this manual)

The Basic Features manual explains the most frequently used fax functions and operations.

Advanced Features (on CD-ROM)

The Advanced Features manual describes more advanced functions and also explains settings for key operators.

Each language version is in an appropriate folder on the CD-ROM in PDF file. Please choose the language version of your preference. Adobe Acrobat Reader is required in order to read these files. If Adobe Acrobat Reader is not installed on your computer, install it from the CD-ROM containing the Advanced Features manual.

🖉 Note

□ A PDF file might not be displayed or printed properly depending on the environment or language you use.

System requirements

To run this CD-ROM manual, you need the following: System: Windows 95, Windows 98, Windows Me, Windows NT 4.0, Windows 2000, or Windows XP However, operation cannot be assured under all circumstances. Please be aware that the manual may not run with certain computers and/or operating system versions.

Before You Use This Machine

The Before You Use This Machine manual explains how to set up your machine.

NIC FAX Unit Manual (on CD-ROM)

The NIC Fax Unit manual explains about the Scanner function, Internet Fax function, IP-Fax function, and LAN FAX function.

🖉 Note

□ The NIC FAX unit is option for Type1.

NIC FAX Unit CD-ROM Manual

Introduces the contents of the NIC FAX CD-ROM and the necessary operating environment for the CD-ROM. How to access the NIC FAX unit manual in PDF file on the CD-ROM is also explained.

🖉 Note

□ The NIC FAX unit is option for Type1.

1. Getting Started

Machine Types

This machine comes in two types.

	Type1	Type2
NIC FAX Unit	Option	Standard
Color Unit	Option	Standard

Guide to Components

Front View

The following illustration is for Type1.



ZHMH030E

1. ADF cover

Cover for the ADF.

2. Release button

Push this button to open the ADF.

3. Auto Document Feeder (ADF)

Set multi-page originals here to have them automatically scanned in one page at a time.

4. Output tray

Received fax messages and copies are stacked here.

5. Control panel

Operate the machine using keys and watching the display on the control panel.

6. Front cover

Open this cover when changing the toner cartridge and the photo conductor unit inside the machine.

7. Main paper tray

Load paper here.

8. Optional paper tray unit

You can load more paper here.

9. Lower right cover

Open this cover to remove jammed paper fed from the optional paper tray unit.

10. Bypass tray unit

A received fax message will be printed on paper in this tray if there is no paper loaded in the paper trays. A received message also will be printed on paper in this tray if the size of that paper is more suitable for the message than the size of paper in the paper trays.

When making copies on custom size paper, thick paper, or special paper, use this tray.

11. Status indicators

- **4** Alarm Blinks red when an error occurs. Check the display and read the message to identify the problem (such as a paper jam or an open the cover).
- Communicating Lights during fax transmission or reception.

12. Right cover

Open this cover to remove jammed paper fed from the paper tray.

Side View

13. Original output tray guide

Prevents originals from falling from the original output tray.

14. Original output tray

Scanned originals are stacked here.

15. Original tray

Place originals here for sending a fax and copying.

16. Original guide

Adjust the original guide to match the size of the originals.



1. Output tray guide

Pull out and raise the end fence to support large paper.

2. Main power switch

The power turns your machine on and off.

∰Important

□ Make sure that 100% appears on the display before you turn off the power. If the power is turned off for 12 hours or longer, all documents stored in memory are deleted.

3. Ventilation Hole

Prevents overheating. Do not obstruct the ventilation hole by placing an object near it. If the machine overheats, a malfunction might occur.

4. External telephone connector

\mathcal{P} Reference

p.200 "Connecting to a Telephone Line", Advanced Features

5. G3 line connector

\mathcal{P} Reference

p.200 "Connecting to a Telephone Line", *Advanced Features*

6. Memory card slot

Insert the optional 40MB memory card here.

Control Panel

The following illustration is for Type2.



1. User Function keys

Each of these can be programmed for rapid access to frequently used functions.

Functions programmed by default

Type1

Key	Function
F1	Print Journal
F2	Fax Header Print
F3	Group Dial

Type2

Key	Function
F1	Print Journal
F2	Fax Header Print
F3	Group Dial
F4	E-mail Message
F5	Internet Fax
F9	JPEG
F10	Scan to E-mail

2. [Help] key

Press the Help key when you want to print a help list.

3. [User Tools] key

Press to access the User Tools settings and customize various functions to meet your specific requirements.

4. Display

This guides you through tasks and informs you of the machine status. Messages appear here.

5. [Cancel] key

Press to cancel an operation or return to the previous display.

6. 🕘 🕑 keys

Press to move the cursor or select functions.

7. [OK] key

Press to answer "Yes" to a question displayed on the display.

8. [Job Information] key

Press to search for information about a specific job.

9. [Trans. Option] key

Press to change the transmission option settings. The indicator lights when option settings are changed.

10. Add Toner indicator

Blinks when toner is low and lights continuously when toner has completely run out. See p.90 "Replacing the Toner Cartridge".

11. Load Paper indicator

Lights when a paper tray is empty or the paper tray is not fully inserted.

12. Receive File indicator

Lights when a message has been received into memory.

13. [Energy Saver/Clear Modes] key

- Energy Saver: Hold down this key for about 2 seconds to manually enter Energy Saver mode. The machine automatically enters Energy Saver mode about 5 minutes after the last operation is carried out. See p.210 "Energy Saving", Advanced Features.
- Clear Modes: Cancel the current settings and return to the standby mode (except when accessing the User Tools).

14. [Copy] key

Press to copy the originals currently loaded in the ADF.

15. Quick Dial keys

Use to dial numbers with a single touch or to enter letters and symbols. Also use for the Group Dial function.

You can select from four types of keyboard layout: QWERTY (as shown in the illustration), ABCDEF, QWERTZ, and AZERT. See p.162 "Key Layout", *Advanced Features*.

16. Quick Dial Key Flip Plate

There are two Quick Dial Key Flip Plates.

- To access Quick Dials **[01]** to **[30]**, flip both plates right.
- To access Quick Dials **[31]** to **[60]**, flip one plate left.
- To access Quick Dials **[61]** to **[90]**, flip both plates left.

🖉 Note

Make sure the plate is flat against the control panel when you use Quick Dial keys.

17. [Stamp] key

Press this key to switch the Stamp function on. See p.55 "Stamp", *Advanced Features*.

18. Original Type key

• Color Scan (Only for Type2, and Type1 with the optional NIC FAX unit)

Select when scanning color originals using the optional scanner function.

• Halftone Select halftone when faxing or copying photographs or illustrations with fine gradations. Also it can be used for color originals.

19. [Memory Trans.] key

Press this key to switch between Memory Transmission and Immediate Transmission modes.

When the indicator is not lit, Immediate Transmission is selected, and when the indicator is lit, Memory Transmission is selected.

20. Resolution key

Press to select the level of detail (Standard, Detail, Super Fine, Extra Super Fine or 300 dpi) to be sent. 300 dpi can be selected only with the scanner function of Type2 and Type1 with the optional NIC FAX unit.



🖉 Note

- □ When receiving fax messages or copying with Extra Super Fine, the optional 40MB memory card is required.
- □ To select 300 dpi, the NIC FAX unit (Option for Type1) is required.

21. [Speed Dial] key

Press to specify a destination programmed in a Speed Dial.

22. [On Hook Dial] key

Use to dial a number from the number keys without having to lift the handset.

23. [Pause/Redial] key

Pause: Inserts a pause when you are dialing or storing a fax number. A pause cannot be inserted as the first digit. See p.46 "Pause".

Redial: Press to redial one of the last ten numbers. See p.46 "Redial", *Advanced Features*.

24. Number keys

Use to dial fax numbers or enter the number of copies.

25. [Start] key

Press to start all tasks.

26. [Clear/Stop] key

Clear: Deletes one character or digit.

Stop: Interrupts the current operation (transmission, scanning, copying or printing).

Reading the Display

The machine status and instructions are shown on the display.

∰Important

- Do not apply a strong shock or force of about 30N^{*1} (about 6.8 lbf^{*2}) or more to the panel display. Otherwise, the display might be damaged.
- *1 N = Newton
- *2 lbf = weight pound

🖉 Note

□ The functions which are shown on the display depend on what options are installed.

Reading the Display and Using Keys

Standby Display



- ① Display for the machine status or currently selected function.
- Display for the messages.
 Items which can be selected or specified.

Menu Display



- ① Display for items which can be selected.
- ② Press the **[Cancel]** key to cancel the selected function or entered value, and return to the previous display.
- ③ Press ④ or ⑤ to display another function on the display or move the brackets to select other values.
- ④ Press the **[OK]** key to set a selected function or entered value, and return to the previous display.

Standby Display

While the machine is on standby (immediately after it is turned on or after the **[Cancel]** key is pressed), the following display is shown.



Returning the machine to the standby display

To return the machine to the standby display manually, do one of the following:

- If you have placed an original and have not pressed the **[Start]** key, remove the original.
- If you have not set an original, press the [Energy Saver/Clear Modes] key.
- If you are in User Tools mode, press the **[User Tools]** key or the **[Cancel]** key.

Communication Display

While the machine is communicating, the status is displayed.

Memory Transmission

The destination's (Receiver's) name or fax number appears on the top of the display.



Memory Reception

The destination's (Sender's) name or fax number appears on the top of the display.



🖉 Note

- Even when the machine is sending a fax message from memory or receiving a fax message into memory, you can still scan the next original into memory.
- Immediate Transmission

ABC COMPANY Transmitting...

Display Prompts

Depending on the situation, the machine will show various prompts on the display.

Instructions and Requests

Send	Later:	Keypad/0K
Time	[11:30]	

Questions

Save as Wildcard?**∢**⊅/OK [Yes] No

Selections

Label	Insertion:	●/0K
[0n]	Off	

Status

ABC COMPANY	
Dialing	

Energy Saver Mode Display

When the machine is not used for a fixed period, the machine goes into Energy Saver Mode automatically.

Exiting Energy Saver Mode

To exit Energy Saver mode manually:

- In Energy Saver Standby mode, press the [Energy Saver/Clear Modes] key.
- In Fax Standby mode, press any key.
- Place an original.
- Pick up the optional handset or the external telephone handset.

Restricted Access Display

When the following display appears, the Restricted Access function is on.



To exit the Restricted Access display, enter your user code (the Personal Box SUB code). You can check your Personal Box SUB code on the Personal Box list. See p.177 "Printing the Box List", *Advanced Features*.

1 Enter your personal code with the number keys.



🖉 Note

□ When you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.

1

2 Press the **[OK]** key.

🖉 Note

□ When you enter a user code which is not programmed, an error message appears and the Restricted Access display is shown.

Restricted Access

Use this function to restrict access to the machine or monitor machine usage by user or department. When turned on, users must enter a previously assigned code before they can use the machine.

In order to use this function, you need to program user codes (Personal Box SUB codes) beforehand. See p.169 "Personal Boxes", *Advanced Features*.

🖉 Note

- □ Turn this function on or off with the User Parameters (switch 05, bit 4). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.
- □ When Restricted Access is turned on, incoming faxes are received and printed as normal.
- User names printed on all reports are those used by the Personal Box function.

Turning On or Off the Power

🖉 Note

□ This machine automatically enters Energy Saver mode if you do not use the machine for a while.

Turning On the Power

1 Confirm that the power cord is plugged into the outlet firmly.

2 Turn on the power.



Turning Off the Power

∰Important

- □ Make sure that 100% appears on the display before you turn off the power. If the power is turned off for 12 hours or longer, all documents stored in memory are deleted. The storage time might be shorter if the surrounding temperature is low or the machine has been on for less than a week.
- □ Fax files programmed in memory will not be deleted while the optional 40MB memory card is installed.

1 Turn off the power.



2. Faxing

Transmission Modes

There are two types of transmission.

Memory Transmission

The fax is stored in memory, and then transmitted automatically. This is convenient when you want to remove originals quickly. You can send the same fax to more

than one destination in a single operation. This technique is referred to as Broadcasting.



Immediate Transmission

The machine dials immediately and transmits the fax while scanning.

This is convenient when you want to send a fax immediately and want to check whether you have successfully connected with the other party's fax machine.

The fax is not stored in memory.



Important

□ Make sure that 100% appears on the display before you turn off the power. If the power is turned off for 12 hours or longer, all documents stored in memory are deleted. As soon as the power is turned on, the Power Failure Report is printed to help you identify deleted documents. See p.180 "Power Failure Report", Advanced Features

Switching between Memory Transmission and Immediate Transmission

Press the **[Memory Trans.]** key to switch between Memory Transmission and Immediate Transmission. When the indicator of the **[Memory Trans.]** key is not lit, Immediate Transmission is selected. When the indicator of the **[Memory Trans.]** key is lit, Memory Transmission is selected.





- □ You can set whether the machine is in Memory Transmission mode or Immediate Transmission mode right after the power is turned on or the **[Energy Saver/Clear Modes]** key is pressed with the User Parameters (switch 00, bit 6). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.
- □ You can set whether the Transmission mode returns to the default after each transmission with the User Parameters (switch 01, bit 7). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.
Placing Originals

You can place your originals in the ADF.

How to place A4, B5 JIS (Japanese Industrial Standard), A5, 5¹/₂"x8¹/₂", 8¹/₂"x11", 8¹/₂"x14", and 8"x13" size originals



How to place A5 and 8¹/₂"x5¹/₂" size originals



- □ When sending a fax, the image output at the other end depends on the size and orientation of paper used in the receiver's terminal. If the receiver does not use paper of the same size and orientation as that of the original, the fax image size may be reduced on output, trimmed at the both edges, or divided into two or more sheets. When sending an important original, we recommend that you ask the receiver about the size and orientation of the paper used in their terminal.
- □ Make sure that all ink, correcting fluid, etc. has completely dried before setting your original. If it is still wet, the scanner will be marked and those marks will appear on the received image. When the scanner is dirty, a warning message is displayed after scanning is complete. See p.62 "Scanner Cleaning Message", Advanced Features.
- □ If you try to scan an almost completely blank original (for example the wrong side of an original), an alarm sounds. See p.61 "Blank Sheet Detect", *Advanced Features*.
- □ You can place the original any time up until you press the **[Start]** key.

Placing Originals in the ADF

Use the ADF to scan a stack of originals in one operation. The ADF can handle one-sided originals.

🖉 Note

- □ The maximum original length is 600 mm (23.7″) with manual assistance.
- □ Place all the originals to be scanned in a single stack.
- When scanning two-sided originals, use the duplex original function. See p.56 "Duplex Original Settings", Advanced Features.
- When you want to place originals for a transmission individually or more than two times, use the Batch Original Documents Transmission function. See p.57 "Batch Original Documents Transmission", Advanced Features.
- Do not open the ADF while it is scanning the originals or an original could become jammed.
- □ If an original jams, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key, and then remove the original carefully.
- □ The maximum number of originals you can place in the ADF is 70 sheets for A4 and 8¹/₂" x 11", 30 sheets for 8¹/₂"x14" size originals.
- □ If your original is bent or folded, flatten it before you place it.

Reference

For information about the sizes and number of originals that can be placed in the ADF, see p.207 "Acceptable Types of Originals", *Advanced Features*. **1** Adjust the original guide to match the size of your originals. Align the edges of your originals and stack them in the ADF face up. Adjust the original guide to match the size of the originals again.



🖉 Note

□ Place the originals gently.

Originals Unsuitable for the Auto Document Feeder (ADF)

Do not set the following types of originals in the Auto Document Feeder (ADF) because they may be damaged.

- Originals of sizes other than those specified on p.207 "Acceptable original sizes", *Advanced Features*
- Originals with staples or clips
- Perforated or torn originals
- Curled, folded, or creased originals
- · Pasted originals
- Originals with any kind of coating, such as thermo-sensitive paper, art paper, aluminum foil, carbon paper, or conductive paper
- Originals with indexes, tags, or other projecting parts
- Originals of inappropriate thickness such as postcards
- · Bound originals such as books
- Originals with a smooth or shiny front surface
- Thin and soft originals
- Transparent originals, such as OHP transparencies or translucent paper
- Originals with pencil writing on the back

🖉 Note

To avoid damage to important originals through mishaps such as paper jams, we recommend that you place copies of such originals.

Memory Transmission

Memory Transmission is convenient because:

- Fax originals can be scanned much more quickly. Your fax is stored in memory, and then sent automatically, meaning you do not have to wait for your original to be sent.
- While your fax is being sent, another user can operate the machine (people do not have to wait long to use the fax machine).
- You can send the same original to more than one place with the same operation. (Broadcasting)

∰Important

□ Make sure that 100% appears on the display before you turn off the power. If the power is turned off for 12 hours or longer, all documents stored in memory are deleted. As soon as the power is turned on, the Power Failure Report is printed to help you identify deleted files. See p.180 "Power Failure Report", Advanced Features.

Limitation

□ If memory is full (0% appears on the display), Memory Transmission is disabled. Use Immediate Transmission instead.

🖉 Note

- Maximum number of destinations per Memory Transmission: 250
- The maximum number of destinations awaiting Memory Transmission that you can specify is 250.
- The theoretical maximum number of destinations you can enter with the number keys is 100, but this will depend on the amount of memory currently available.

- The number of pages that you can store in memory depends on the original images and the scan settings. You can store up to 560 standard pages (ITU-T #1 chart, Resolution: Standard, Original Type: Halftone Off).
- You can expand the amount of memory available for storing originals up to 2,200 pages by installing the optional 40MB memory card.
- □ Maximum number of Memory Transmission files: 250

1 Make sure that the Memory Transmission indicator is lit.



If it is not lit, press the **[Memory Trans.]** key.

2 Place the original.

🖉 Note

Do not open the ADF while it is scanning originals.

₽ Reference

p.31 "Placing Originals"

3 Select any scan settings you require.

PReference p.42 "Scan Settings"

4 Dial.

If you want to send the same fax to more than one destination, press the **[OK]** key, and then dial another destination. Repeat this step for all destinations.

Dest.1	ΟK	to	Add
& 1234567890			

🖉 Note

- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key, and then enter the correct number again.
- □ When destinations are specified using Quick Dial keys successively, those destinations can be added without pressing the **[OK]** key. You can set whether to require to press the **[OK]** key when specifying destinations using Quick Dial keys successively with the User Parameters (switch 09, bit 6). See p.146 "User Parameters", Advanced Features.
- □ When one G3 line is set as the PSTN line (Outside) and the other as the PABX line (Extension), you need to choose which line you use for each transmission with the Line Select function.

p.45 "Dialing"

p.53 "Selecting the Line", Advanced Features **5** Press the **[Start]** key.



1234567890 No.0058 P.001 99%

The machine starts scanning the original.

The machine calls the destination. The name or fax number which is programmed as the Own Name or Own Fax Number at the other end is shown on the top of the display.

p.55 "Own Name/Fax Header/Own Fax Number"

OReady	100%	10:15
Set Orig.	/ Enter	No.

After transmission, the standby display reappears.

Canceling a Memory Transmission

Before Pressing the Start Key

Press the [Energy Saver/Clear Modes] key.



🖉 Note

When you have already placed the original, you can also cancel the transmission by removing the original from the machine.

While Scanning the Original

Press the [Clear/Stop] key.



The machine will stop storing the data from the original and the data will not be sent.

When an Original Is Jammed

1 Read the message in the display. The following displays appear one

after the other.

Original Misfeed. Trans. Cancelled.

Storing Stopped, /OK

2 Press the **[OK]** key.

Clear Misfed Original(s)

3 Remove the original.

Reference

p.95 "Clearing Original Jams"

During Transmission

Use this procedure to cancel a transmission after the original has been scanned.

- □ If transmission finishes while you are carrying out this procedure, it will not be canceled.
- □ If you cancel a message while it is being sent, transmission is halted as soon as you finish this procedure. However, some pages of your message may have already been sent and will be received at the other end.
- During transmission, you can cancel the transmission by pressing the [Clear/Stop] key.

Press the [Job Information] key, and confirm that " 1. Cancel TX / RX " is displayed.



Uob Information: l1.Cance∣ TX / RX

The Information menu is displayed.

2 Press the **[OK]** key.

B Display the file you want to delete.

Enter the file number with the number keys, or search using \bigcirc or \bigcirc .

Cancel File: �/0Ki No.0007 ABC COMPANY

"Cancel File" and "Transmitting..." are shown one after the other in the display.

4 Press the **[OK]** key.

Press () or () to select "Yes "

Cancel? [Yes] No

♦/OKI

6 Press the [OK] key.

O Ready		100%	10:15
Set Orig.	7	Enter	No.

The file is deleted, and the standby display reappears.

While Awaiting Transmission

Use this procedure to cancel a transmission after the original has been scanned.

🖉 Note

- □ If transmission finishes while you are carrying out this procedure, it will not be canceled.
- □ If you cancel a message while it is being sent, transmission is halted as soon as you finish this procedure. However, some pages of your message may have already been sent. All pages, up to the page before scanning stopped, are sent to the other end.
- Press the [Job Information] key, and confirm that "1. Cancel TX / **RX**" is displayed.





2 Press the **[OK]** key.

3 Display the file you want to delete.

Enter the file number with the number keys, or search using \bigcirc or \bigcirc .



If you are unable to find the file, it has already been sent.



4 Press the [OK] key.

5 Press () or () to select "Yes".

Cancel?		♠/0K
[Yes]	No	

6 Press the [OK] key.

OReady		100%	10:15
Set Orig.	7	Enter	No.

The file is deleted, and the standby display reappears

Immediate Transmission

Immediate Transmission is convenient when:

- You want to send an original immediately as it is scanning.
- You want to quickly check whether you have successfully connected with the other party's fax machine.
- Your machine's memory is getting full.

The machine dials immediately after you press the **[Start]** key. The message is scanned and transmitted page by page without being stored in memory.

🖉 Note

- You can only specify one destination for Immediate Transmission.
- When the Backup File Transmission Setting is on, Immediate Transmission cannot be used. See p.140 "Backup File Transmission Settings", Advanced Features.

1 Check that the Memory Transmission indicator is not lit.



If it is lit, press the **[Memory Trans.]** key.

2 Place your original.

PReference

p.31 "Placing Originals"

3 Select any scan settings you require.

✓ Reference

p.42 "Scan Settings"

4 Dial.



🖉 Note

- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key, and then enter the correct number again.
- When one G3 line is set as the PSTN line (Outside) and the other as the PABX line (Extension), you need to choose which line you use for each transmission with the Line Select function.

Reference

p.45 "Dialing"

p.53 "Selecting the Line", Advanced Features

5 Press the **[Start]** key.



The machine calls the destination. While it is dialing, the number or name which is programmed as the Own Name or Own Fax Number in the machine of the other party is shown on the display. When connected, the machine starts scanning the original.

1234567890 Dialing...

p.55 "Own Name/Fax Header/Own Fax Number"

O Ready		100%	10:15
Set Orig.	7	Enter	No.

After transmission the standby display reappears.

If the Connection Could Not Be Made

If it is not possible to make a connection with the number you specified because the line was busy or there was a line problem, the machine redials automatically.

When you want to remove originals quickly or want to send other fax messages, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and then resend the fax message using Memory Transmission.

🖉 Note

If communication stops during Immediate Transmission, an original could be jammed. Remove the jammed original and send it again. See p.95 "Clearing Original Jams".

Canceling an Immediate Transmission

Before Pressing the Start Key

Press the [Energy Saver/Clear Modes] key.



🖉 Note

When you have already placed the original, you can also cancel the transmission by removing the original from the machine.

After Pressing the Start Key

1 Press the **[Clear/Stop]** key, and then remove the original.



🖉 Note

□ If the transmission finishes while you are carrying out this procedure, it will not be canceled.

When an Original Is Jammed

1 Read the message on the display.

Clear Misfed Original(s)

2 Remove the original.

PReference

p.95 "Clearing Original Jams"

Scan Settings

You may want to send many different types of fax messages. Some of these may be difficult to reproduce at the other end. However, your machine has two settings that you can adjust to help you transmit your fax message with the best possible image quality.

Resolution:

Standard, Detail, Super Fine, Extra Super Fine *1

*1 When receiving fax messages or copying with Extra Super Fine, the optional 40MB memory card is required.

Original Type: Halftone, Color Scan (Option for Type1)

🖉 Note

□ You can set whether the machine returns to the same settings after the power is turned on with the User Parameters (switch 01, bit 7). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features* .

Resolution

Images and text are scanned into the machine by converting them to a sequence of dots. The frequency of dots determines the quality of the image and how long it takes to transmit. Therefore, images scanned at high resolution (**Super Fine**) have high quality but transmission takes longer. Conversely, low resolution (**Standard**) scanning results in less quality but faster transmission. Choose the setting that matches your needs based upon this trade off between speed and image clarity.

Standard (8 × 3.85 lines/mm, 200 × 100 dpi)

Select for originals containing normal sized characters.

Detail (8 × 7.7 lines/mm, 200 × 200 dpi) Select for originals containing small characters or when you require greater clarity. This resolution is twice as fine as Standard.

♦ 300 × 300 dpi

Select when you use the scanner function. For details, see Chapter3, "Using Scan to E-mail Functions" in the NIC FAX unit manual.

🖉 Note

- □ To select 300 × 300 dpi, the NIC FAX unit (Option for Type1) is required.
- Super Fine (16 × 15.4 lines/mm, 400 × 400 dpi)

This is suitable for originals with small characters like newspapers. Select for originals with very fine details or when you require finer image clarity than **Detail**. This resolution is eight times as fine as **Standard**.

Extra Super Fine (24 × 23.1 lines/mm, 600 × 600 dpi)

This is suitable for originals with small characters or geometric figures like newspapers.

Select when you require finer image clarity than **Super Fine**.

🖉 Note

When receiving a fax message or copying with Extra Super Fine, the optional 40MB memory card is required.

Limitation

- □ If the other party's machine does not support the resolution at which you are sending, this machine automatically switches to a resolution which is supported. This machine can send with **Standard**, **Detail**, **Super Fine** and **Extra Super Fine**. Even if you send the original with **Extra Super Fine**, the other party's machine may receive it with **Fine** (8x15.4 lines/mm, 200 x 400 dpi) or **Detail** (8x7.7 lines/mm, 200 x 200 dpi).
- □ When copying or receiving with Extra Super Fine, the optional 40MB memory card is required. Turn on the "Ex. Super Fine" with the User Parameters (switch 20; bit 1,3). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.
- □ When sending with **Extra Super Fine**, turn on the "Ex. Super Fine" with the User Parameters (switch 20, bit 2). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.

🖉 Note

- This machine can receive fax messages with Standard, Detail, Super Fine, and Extra Super Fine (optional).
- You can check the resolution type with the Journal.
- When turning on the "Ex. Super Fine" with the User Parameters (switch 20; bit 2,3), sending or receiving faxes on multiple lines may not be possible. Copies and received documents may not be printed either.

- □ To select 300 x 300 dpi, the NIC FAX unit (Option for Type1) is required. 300 x 300 dpi can be used with the scanner function. When sending fax messages with 300 x 300 dpi, the machine switches to **Detail** automatically.
- □ You can set the resolution type after the power is turned on or the **[Energy Saver/Clear Modes]** key is pressed with the User Parameters (switch 00; bit 5,4). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.
- **1** Press the **[Resolution]** key to switch between resolutions.

The indicators above the key show the current selection.



🖉 Note

□ When **Detail** and **Super Fine** are lit at the same time, 300 x 300 dpi (optional) is selected.

Original Type

If your original contains photographs or colored illustrations, select **Halftone** to optimize image clarity.

When you select **Color Scan**, color originals can be scanned with the scanner function (optional). For details, see "Scanning a Color Original" in the NIC FAX unit manual.

🖉 Note

- □ If you select **Halftone**, the transmission will take longer than when it is not selected.
- **Color Scan** cannot be selected with fax transmission.
- □ You can set whether Halftone is selected after the power is turned on or the **[Energy Saver/Clear Modes]** key is pressed with the User Parameters (switch 00, bit 7). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.

Press the [Original Type] key.



Speed Mode and Standard Mode

Halftone has two modes, Speed mode and Standard mode. When you select Speed mode, faxes can be transmitted faster, but the resulting images could be inferior to those sent with Standard mode.

🖉 Note

□ You can set the mode for Halftone with the User Parameters (switch 10, bit 7). See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.

. . . .

Changing Scan Settings

When scanning multiple originals using the ADF, you can set scan settings for every page.

- Check which pages you want to change the scan settings for.
- 2 Make the scan settings for the next page while the previous page is scanned.



2

Dialing

There are four main ways to dial a number:

- Entering numbers directly See p.45 "Entering Numbers Directly".
- Using Quick Dials See p.47 "Using Quick Dials".
- Using Speed Dials See p.48 "Using Speed Dials".
- Using Group Dials See p.49 "Using Group Dials".

Entering Numbers Directly

Enter numbers directly using the number keys on the right side of the control panel.

🖉 Note

- Maximum length of a fax number: 254 digits
- You can insert pauses and tones in a fax number. See p.46 "Pause" and p.46 "Tone"
- **1** Place your original, and then select any scan settings you require.



2 Enter the fax number with the number keys.

The digits appear on the display as you enter them.



🖉 Note

- If you make a mistake, press the [Clear/Stop] key and enter again.
- □ If you want to send this message to more than one destination, press the **[OK]** key, and then enter the next destination.

Press the [Start] key.

Limitations When Dialing with the Number Keys

Fax numbers entered with the number keys are stored in internal memory (separate from memory for storing original data). Therefore, using the number keys, you cannot program more than 100 numbers in total for the following:

- Destinations specified in a Memory Transmission (including Confidential Transmission and Polling Reception)
- Transfer Stations and End Receivers specified in a Transfer Request
- Destinations and Transfer Stations Specified in a Group

For example, when 90 destinations are programmed in a Group with the number keys, only 10 destinations can be dialed for Memory Transmission from the number keys.

🖉 Note

- □ When this machine is requested to transfer a call (i.e. becomes a Transfer Station), two fax numbers are automatically stored. Therefore, the number of destinations that can be dialed from the number keys decreases by two whenever this machine is requested to transfer a call.
- When a total of 100 fax numbers is stored, Memory Transmission dialing with number keys cannot be used. Use Immediate Transmission, or Memory Transmission dialing with Quick Dial, Speed Dial, or Group Dial.
- □ If a Group is defined when there are files queued for transmission, no additional fax numbers can be stored even if the number of destinations specified from the number keys is less than 100. That is because the fax numbers have been dialed from the number keys for some of the waiting files. When the waiting files have been sent and their fax numbers are deleted from memory, additional fax numbers can be dialed.
- The display shows the percentage of free space in memory for storing documents. Since fax numbers are stored in separate memory, dialing fax numbers from the number keys does not change the percentage on the display.

.

Pause

Press the **[Pause/Redial]** key when dialing or storing a number to insert about a two-second pause.



🖉 Note

- You cannot insert a pause before the first digit of a fax number.
- A pause is shown as a "-" on the display.
 - When Entering a Pause

Dest.1	OK	to	Add
80- 			

You can insert a pause in numbers stored in Quick Dials and Speed Dials.

Tone

This function allows a machine connected to a pulse dialing line to send tonal signals (for example if you want to use a special service on a tone dialing line).

To use Tone, perform one of the following ways:

- Press the User Function key with the Tone function programmed in.
- Press the [*] key.

Preparation

To use the User Function key with the Tone function programmed in, you need to assign this function to a User Function key beforehand. See p.105 "User Function Keys", *Advanced Features*.

Limitation

- You cannot place a tone before the first digit of a fax number.
- □ Some services may not be available when using the Tone feature.

🖉 Note

- □ A tone is shown as a " " on the display.
- □ You can choose whether to use the [★] key as a Tone key with the User Parameters. See p.146 "User Parameters", *Advanced Features*.

When using Tone with On Hook Dial

Press the [On Hook Dial] key.



2 Enter the fax number with the number keys.

Press the User Function key ([F1] to [F10]) in which"Tone"is programmed.



4 Enter a code number for receiving a special service with the number keys.

🖉 Note

□ The entered number will be sent by tonal signals.

Using Quick Dials

You can specify a destination simply by pressing a Quick Dial.

Preparation

You must program the destination's fax number in a Quick Dial beforehand. Additionally, you can program a name for the destination in the Quick Dial. To program, edit, or delete a Quick Dial, see p.62 "Quick Dial".

- □ To check the contents of all Quick dials, print the Quick Dial list. See p.110 "Reports/Lists", *Advanced Features*.
- Switch between Quick Dials [01] to [30], [31] to [60], and [61] to [90] with the Quick Dial Key Flip Plates.

P Reference

p.45 "Dialing"

1 Place your original, and then select any scan settings you require.

O Ready	100%	10:15
Enter Fax	Number	

2 Press the Quick Dial key in which the destination number is programmed.



If the destination's name has been programmed, the name is shown on the display. If it is not, the fax number is shown.

Dest.1 OK to Add ©01 ABC COMPANY

🖉 Note

- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.
- □ If you want to dial another destination, press the **[OK]** key and dial another fax number.

B Press the **[Start]** key.

Using Speed Dials

You can specify a destination simply by pressing the **[Speed Dial]** key and a Speed Dial code (000 to 199).

Preparation

You must program the destination's fax number in a Speed Dial beforehand. Additionally, you can program a name for the destination in the Speed Dial. To program, edit, or delete Speed Dial, see p.71 "Speed Dial".

- □ To check the contents of all Speed Dials, print the Speed Dial list. See p.110 "Reports/Lists", *Advanced Features*.
- You can use codes 000-199 for Speed Dials.
- You can have the label stored with a Speed Dial printed on the first page received at the other end.
- **1** Place your original, and then select any scan settings you require.



2 Press the **[Speed Dial]** key.



Note

"Enter No." and "Search A/Z" are shown one after the other in the display above. If a search letter is programmed with a Speed Dial, you can find this number quickly using the Telephone Directory function. See p.46 "Telephone Directory", Advanced Features.

Enter the three digit code (000 to 199) for the destination with the number keys.



🖉 Note

- □ If the destination's name has been programmed, the name is shown on the display. If it is not, the fax number is shown.
- □ If you want to dial another destination, press the **[OK]** key and dial another fax number.
- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.

4 Press the [Start] key.

Using Group Dials

You can store multiple destinations as a single Group and easily specify these destinations by selecting the Group.

The method for specifying Groups differs according to the way they were programmed.

- When programmed in a Quick Dial Press the Quick Dial key in which a Group is programmed.
- When not programmed in a Quick Dial Use the User Function key. Group Dial is assigned to [F3] as a default. If this setting is changed, program the Group function in a User Function key ([F1] to [F10]). See p.105 "User Function Keys", Advanced Features. When you want to specify a destination, press the User Function key with the Group function programmed in, and then press the Group number with the number keys.

Preparation

You must program the destinations' fax numbers in a Group beforehand. Additionally, you can program the destination names and the Group name in the Group. To program, edit, or delete Groups, see p.77 "Groups".

🖉 Note

- Quick Dials programmed for Groups cannot be used for any other function.
- □ To check the contents of all Groups, print the Group Dial list. See p.110 "Reports/Lists", *Advanced Features*.

You cannot use Immediate Transmission with Groups. You can only use Memory Transmission. You can store up to 250 destinations. If you register the same destination with a Speed Dial, Quick Dial, or number keys in different groups, it is only counted as one item.

When specifying a group with a Quick Dial

Preparation

You must program Groups in Quick Dials beforehand. See p.77 "Groups".

1 Make sure that the Memory Transmission indicator is lit.



If it is not lit, press the **[Memory Trans.]** key.

2 Place your original, and then select any scan settings you require.

()Ready 100% 10:15 Enter Fax Number

Press the Quick Dial key in which the Group is programmed.

Total:1	OK to Add
☎ 02 Gp.D1	EUROPE1

🖉 Note

- Group Number is displayed. If the group name is programmed, the group name is also displayed.
- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.
- □ If you want to dial another destination, press the **[OK]** key, and then dial another fax number.

4 Press the [Start] key.

When specifying a group with the Group Key

- □ Group Dial is assigned to **[F3]** as a default. If this setting is changed, you must program the Group function in a User Function key beforehand. See p.105 "User Function Keys", *Advanced Features*.
- Make sure that the Memory Transmission indicator is lit.



If it is not lit, press the **[Memory Trans.]** key.

2 Place your original, and then select any scan settings you require.

OReady	100%	10:15
Enter Fax	Number	

3 Press the User Function key with the Group function programmed in.

Group Dial:	Enter	No.
[Gp.D <mark>]</mark>]		

4 Enter the Group number (1 to 9) with the number keys.



🖉 Note

- □ Group Number is displayed. If the group name is programmed, the group name is also displayed.
- □ If you want to specify another Group, press the **[OK]** key, and then repeat step **B** above.
- □ If you make a mistake, press the **(Clear/Stop)** key. The display will return to that in step **2**.

5 Press the **[Start]** key.

Reception Modes

The machine can treat incoming fax messages and telephone calls in two ways.

Manual Receive

Use this mode if your line is shared by a fax machine and a telephone but you want to answer all calls yourself and decide whether they are fax transmissions or telephone calls.

The machine will ring continuously until you answer the call, so you have to be near the machine at all times.

Auto Receive

Use this mode if you have a dedicated fax line. The machine assumes all calls are fax transmissions. It will ring once to alert you of an incoming call, and then it starts receiving.

Selecting the Reception Mode

Select the Reception Mode using the following procedure.

🖉 Note

- □ When the optional extra G3 interface unit is installed, only Auto Receive can be used with G3-2.
- □ You can assign the procedure of selecting the Reception Mode to a User Function key. See p.105 "User Function Keys", *Advanced Features*. When you press the User Function key in which it is assigned, proceed to step **B** in the following procedure.

Press the [User Tools] key.



2 Press ④ or ◎ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features 🛛 🚸

Press the [OK] key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete া 🔶

4 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 3. Setup " is displayed.

Fax Features: 3.Setup 🛛 🔶

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Setup: 1.MonitorVolume া **6** Press **(a)** or **(b)** until " 5. Reception Mode " is displayed.

Setup: 5.Reception Mode

7 Press the **[OK]** key.

Reception Mode: ♠/OK [Auto Receive]

4

Press (or b to select the reception mode.

Reception Mode: ♠/OK Manual Receive

9 Press the **[OK]** key.

Press the **[User Tools]** key to return to the standby display.

O Ready		100%	10:15
Set Orig.	/	Enter	No.

Receiving Messages in Manual Receive

In this mode you have to answer the call yourself and decide whether it is a fax or a telephone call.

The procedure for answering a call is as follows:

- Pick up the handset of the external telephone and listen to the other end.
- 2 If you hear a voice, continue your conversation as you would normally.
- If you hear a fax tone, remove any originals from the ADF.
- 4 Press the [Start] key.
- **5** Replace the handset.

3. Programming

Own Name/Fax Header/Own Fax Number

Make sure that all necessary settings are made before connecting your machine to the telephone line.

Own Name

This should be your name or company name in 20 characters or less. During communication, if the other party's fax machine supports Own Name, this replaces the Own Fax Number that follows. This name will appear on the display of the other party's fax machine, and the name programmed on that machine will appear on yours.

Limitation

The programmed name will not be used unless the other party has a machine of the same make that supports the Own Name function.

Fax Header

This is ordinarily your name or company name. Your fax header can be up to 32 characters long and is printed on the header of every page you send.

You can program Fax Header1 or Fax Header2. When you send originals using Quick Dial or Speed Dial, you can select which Fax Header will be printed on the message received by the other party.

Own Fax Number (Required by international law)

This is your fax machine's phone number that must include country and area codes using up to 20 characters or less. During any communication, your Own Fax Number appears on their display. (Conversely, their Own Fax Number appears on your display.)

🖉 Note

□ In some areas, the Own Fax Number is preprogrammed by your service representative and cannot be re-programmed by the user.

∰Important

- When sending a fax, your Own Fax Number is required by international law. You cannot legally connect a fax machine to the telephone system if the Own Fax Number is not programmed.
- You can confirm the Own Name, Fax Header, and Own Fax Number settings in the User Parameters List. See p.146 "User Parameters", Advanced Features.

- When the optional extra G3 interface unit is installed, register using the "G3–2 Analog Line". See p.158 "G3 Analog Line", Advanced Features.
- Make sure that the machine is in standby mode before performing the following procedures.

Own Name / Fax Header

The following procedure describes how to program/edit/delete Own Name and Fax Header.

Programming



User Tools: 1.Counter

4

争

2 Press **(a)** or **(b)** until "2.Fax Features" is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features

Press the [OK] key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete া

4 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 3. Setup " is displayed.

Fax Features: 3.Setup 🛛 🔶 **5** Press the **[OK]** key.

Setup: 1.MonitorVolume া 🔶

6 Press ④ or ⓑ until "6. Fax Information" is displayed.

Setup: 6.Fax Information 🛛 🚸

7 Press the **[OK]** key.

Fax Information: 1.Own Name

Confirm that " 1. Own Name " is displayed.

8 Press the [OK] key.

Own Name:[ABC] [**||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||**]

9 Enter your Own Name.

Own Name:[ABC]	/0K
[MAIN OFFICE	

PReference

p.86 "Entering Characters"

Press the [OK] key.

Fax Ir	formation:	
1.Own	Name	•

Press ③ or ⑤ until " 2. Fax Header 1" or "3. Fax Header 2″is displayed.

Fax Ir	nformati	on:	
2.Fax	Header	1	\bullet

Press the [OK] key.



The programmed Own Name is displayed.

If your Fax Header is the same as your Own Name, proceed to step **D**.

B Enter your Fax Header.

Fax Header 1:[ABC] /OK LONDON MAIN OFFICE

Press the **[OK]** key.

Fax Information:	
2.Fax Header 1	\bullet

🖉 Note

□ When you program both Fax Header1 and Fax Header2, repeat from steps **①** to **①**.

B Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

Editing

Press the [User Tools] key.



User Tools: 1.Counter

2 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features

Press the **[OK]** key.

Press () or () until " 3. Setup " is displayed.

Fax Features: 3.Setup 🛛 🌗

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Setup: 1.MonitorVolume া 🔶

6 Press **(a)** or **(b)** until "6. Fax Information" is displayed.

Setup: 6.Fax Information 🛭 🜗

7 Press the [OK] key.	3 Press the (OK) key.
Fax Information	Fax Features"
1 Own Name Ab	i Drogrom / Doloto de
I.UWI NAME	i.Program / Derete 🜗
8 Press ③ or ⑤ to select the item that you want to edit.	Press ③ or ⑤ until " 3. Setup " is displayed.
9 Press the [OK] kev.	Fax Features:
	3.Setup 🔶
[MAIN UFFICE	5 Press the [OK] key.
M Prose the [Clear/Ston] key and then	Setun:
reenter Own Name or Fax Header.	1 Monitor Volume
UWNI NAME-[ADC] /UN [LONDON WAIN OFFICE	6 Press () or () until "6. Fax Infor-
[LUNDON MAIN OFFICE	mation" is displayed.
Press the COK1 key.	Setup:
	6.Fax Information
Press the [User Tools] key.	
The standby display reappears.	7 Press the [OK] key.
Deleting	Fax Information:
Deleting	1.Own Name 📣
1 Press the [User Tools] key.	
	8 Press ④ or ⑥ to select the item that you want to delete.
O User Tools	9 Press the [OK] key.
Help Cancel	
	[MAIN OFFICE
	Press the [Clear/Stop] key
ZHMS130E	UWN NAME;[ABL]
User Tools:	
1.Counter 🔶	Prose the [OK] key
Press (a) or (b) until " 2. Fax Fea-	Press the [User Tools] key.
tures " is displayed.	The standby display reappears.
User Tools:	

Own Fax Number

The following procedure describes how to program/edit/delete the Own Fax Number.

Programming



User Tools: 1.Counter



争

争

2 Press ④ or ◎ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features

Press the [OK] key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete ◀

Press (a) or (b) until " 4. Key Op. Tools" is displayed.

Fax Features: 4.Key Op. Tools

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Enter Key Op. Code

O Press [2][2][2][2].

7 Press the **[OK]** key.

Key Op. Tools: 1.ADF Counter Reset ∢▶

Press ③ or ⑤ until " 13. G3 Analog Line" is displayed.

Key Op	p. Tools:	
13.G3	Analog Line	•

🖉 Note

□ The code for each function that appears on the display varies depending on the installed options.

9 Press the **[OK]** key.

G3-1 Analog Line:	
1.Own Fax No.	•

Confirm that "1. Own Fax No." is displayed.

1 Press the **[OK]** key.

Own Fax No.:

Enter your Own Fax Number.

Own Fax No.: /OK **6**0987654321

Press the [OK] key.

G3-1 Analog Line: 1.Own Fax No.

B Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

♣

Editing

Press the **[User Tools]** key.





2 Press **(a)** or **(b)** until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features 🛛 🔶

Press the [OK] key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete া 🔶

4 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 4. Key Op. Tools" is displayed.

Fax Features: 4.Key Op. Tools 🛛 🚸

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Enter Key Op. Code [∎∎∎∎]

6 Press [2][2][2][2].

Enter Key Op. Code [****] /OK

2 Press the **[OK]** key.

Key Op. Tools: 1.ADF Counter Reset ∢▶

8 Press (a) or (b) until " 13. G3 Analog Line" is displayed.



🖉 Note

The code for each function that appears on the display varies depending on the installed options.

9 Press the **[OK]** key.



Confirm that "1. Own Fax No." is displayed.

Press the [OK] key.

Own	Fax	No.:			/1	DI	7
8 09	98765	54321					

The programmed Own Fax Number is displayed.

Press the [Clear/Stop] key, and then reenter the Own Fax Number.

Own Fax No.:	70K
a 1234567890	

Press the **[OK]** key.

G3-1 Analog Line:	
1.Own Fax No.	•

B Press the [User Tools] key. The standby display reappears.

Deleting

Press the **[User Tools]** key.



User Tools: 1.Counter

2 Press () or () until " 2. Fax Fea-

4 >

tures " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features 🛛 🚸

Press the [OK] key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete ♦

Press (a) or (b) until " 4. Key Op. Tools" is displayed.

Fax Features: 4.Key Op. Tools 🛛 🚸

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Enter Key Op. Code [∎∎∎∎]

6 Press [2][2][2][2].

Enter Key Op. Code [****] /OK

Press the [OK] key.

Key Op. Tools: 1.ADF Counter Reset 🚸

Press () or () until " 13. G3 Analog Line" is displayed.

Key Op. Tools: 13.G3 Analog Line → ♦

🖉 Note

The code for each function that appears on the display varies depending on the installed options.

9 Press the **[OK]** key.



Confirm that "1. Own Fax No." is displayed.

Press the [OK] key.

Own	Fax	No.			/1	Jŀ	\langle
8 09	98765	5432	1				

The programmed Own Fax Number is displayed.

Press the [Clear/Stop] key.



Press the [OK] key.

G3−1 Analog Line: 1.Own Fax No. 🛛 🔶

B Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

Quick Dial

To save time, you can program a fax number that you use often into a Quick Dial key. Then, whenever you are sending a message to that location, just press that Quick Dial key to dial.

You can program the following items in each key:

Destination fax number

You can program the destination fax number using up to 254 digits. You can also select SUB code, SEP code, SID, PWD (maximum 20 digits), Tone, and Pause. See p.47 "SUB/SID (SUB Code Transmission)", Advanced Features ; p.49 "SEP/PWD (SEP Code Polling Transmission)", Advanced Features ; p.46 "Tone", and p.46 "Pause".

Destination name

You can program the destination name using up to 20 characters.

Others

- Label (whether to print the destination name on faxes sent to this number)
- Select Fax Header You can select to print Fax Header1 or Fax Header2 on the fax messages that the other party receives.

∰Important

□ We recommend that you print the Quick Dial list and keep it when you program or change fax numbers. See p.110 "Reports/Lists", *Advanced Features*.

- □ When a programmed Quick Dial key is being used for a standby Memory Transmission, the messages "This Dial is in Use. Cannot Change.", or "This Dial is in Use. Cannot Delete." is displayed and you cannot change or delete the destination for this key.
- □ If a Quick Dial key with a programmed destination is programmed with Auto Document, the document is sent by just pressing the Quick Dial key. See p.60 "Auto Document", *Advanced Features*.
- □ You can assign the procedure of programming Quick Dial to a User Function key. See p.105 "User Function Keys", Advanced Features. When you press the User Function key to which it is assigned, proceed to step **G** in the following procedure.
- □ Make sure that the machine is in standby mode before performing the following procedure.

3

Programming

🖉 Note

□ There are 90 Quick Dials available.

Press the [User Tools] key.



User Tools: 1.Counter

2 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.



3 Press the **[OK]** key.

Confirm that "1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

4 Press the [OK] key.

Program / Delete: 1.Prog. Quick Dial 🜗

Confirm that "1. Prog. Quick Dial " is displayed.

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Press Key	to Program/
Change	(Browse♠)

6 Display the number of the Quick Dial key you want to program.

Press a Quick Dial key, or search using O or D.



🖉 Note

□ If a Quick Dial has already been programmed, the contents are displayed. Press ④ or ⑤ to select a Quick Dial that is not programmed, and then press the **[OK]** key.

7 Press the **[OK]** key.



8 Enter a fax number with the number keys.



- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.
- □ You can redial the number. Press the **[Pause/Redial]** key before entering a fax number with the number keys, and the last 10 fax numbers dialed are displayed. Press ④ or ⓑ to select the fax number you want to specify, and then press the **[OK]** key.

- □ You can insert a pause by pressing the **[Pause/Redial]** key (you cannot enter a pause before the first digit of a fax number).
- □ You can program SUB, SEP, SID, and PWD in this step with the Dial Option function. See p.47 "SUB/SID (SUB Code Transmission)", Advanced Features and p.49 "SEP/PWD (SEP Code Polling Transmission)", Advanced Features.

9 Press the **[OK]** key.



If you do not program the destination name, proceed to step **[]**.

1 Enter the destination name.

01[ABC]		70K)
[ABC COMPANY]

✓ Reference

p.86 "Entering Characters"

🖉 Note

Under rare circumstances, garbled characters may appear during name programming if you use the [Pause/Redial] key to display the fax number of parties located in other countries. If this happens, simply delete the garbled characters using
or (b) and the [Clear/Stop] keys, and then enter the destination name.

Press the [OK] key.



Press ④ or ⑤ to select "On" or "Off".



🖉 Note

□ Label insertion allows the receiver name that is programmed in a Quick Dial or Speed Dial to be printed on the fax when it is received at the other end. See p.58 "Label Insertion", Advanced Features.

Press the [OK] key.



Fax Head	ler:	♦/0K
Hdr.1	[Hdr.2]	

1 Press the **[OK]** key.



If you want to program another Quick Dial, proceed to step **5**.

Press the **[User Tools]** key.

The standby display reappears.

Editing

Press the [User Tools] key.



User Tools: 1.Counter



2 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features

4

B Press the **[OK]** key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete ∢

Confirm that "1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

4 Press the [OK] key.

Program / Delete: 1.Prog. Quick Dial

Confirm that "1. Prog. Quick Dial " is displayed.

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Press Key	to Program/
Change	(Browse♠)

6 Display the number of the Quick Dial key you want to edit.

Press a Quick Dial key, or search using O or D.



7 Press the **[OK]** key.

01 Press OK 21234567890

If you do not edit the number, proceed to step **2**.

8 Press the [Clear/Stop] key, and then reenter the fax number with the number keys.



🖉 Note

- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.
- Press the [OK] key.



If you do not edit the destination name, proceed to step **①**.

Press the [Clear/Stop] key, and then reenter the destination name.



Reference p.86 "Entering Characters" Note



□ Under rare circumstances, gar-

Press the [OK] key.

Program / Delete: 1.Prog. Quick Dial া 🔶

If you want to edit another Quick Dial, proceed to step **5**.

B Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

Deleting

1 Press the **[User Tools]** key.


4

6 Press the [OK] key.

Press Key to Delete (Browse**∯**)

7 Display the Quick Dial key that you want to delete.

Press a Quick Dial key or search by pressing O or O.



8 Press the [OK] key.

The programmed data (fax number and name) is deleted.

Program / Delete: ⊉.Delete Quick Dial

If you want to delete another Quick Dial key, proceed to step **G**.

Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

Quick Dial Key Label (Dial Label)

You can print a template that can be used to make labels for Quick Dial keys. The template will have the destination or Group names programmed in Quick Dial keys on it.

Press the [User Tools] key.



User Tools: 1.Counter

2 Press ④ or ⑤ until "2. Fax Features" is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features 🛛 🔶

Press the **[OK]** key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete ♦

Press () or () until "2. Reports / Lists" is displayed.

Fax Features: 2.Reports / Lists → ♦

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Reports / Lists: 1.Journal 🛛 🔶 **6** Press ④ or ⑤ until "4. Quick Dial Label" is displayed.

Reports / Lists: 4.Quick Dial Label া 🔶

Press the [OK] key.

Quick Dial Label: Press Start to Print

8 Press the [Start] key.

After Quick Dial Label is printed, the standby display reappears.

Label paper

								F/	X HEADER :	2: DEF
QU	ICK DIAL	LABEL								
01	: ABC COM	02 : XYZ Cor	n 03:	04 :	05 :	1 06 :	07 :	08 :	09 ;	<u> </u> 10:
11 11	: Map	1 pany 12 :	13:	14 :	15:	16 :	 17 :	18 :	19:	20 :
21	: Free poll.	22 :	23 :	24 :	25 :	26 :	27 :	28 :	29 :	30 :
31	:	32 :	33 :	34 :	35 :	36 :	37 :	38 :	39 :	40 :
41	:	42 :	43 :	44 :	45 :	46 :	47 :	48 :	49 :	50 :
51	:	52 :	53 :	54 :	55 :	56 :	57 :	58 :	59 :	60 :
61	:	62 :	63 :	64 :	65 :	66 :	67 :	68 :	69 :	70 :
71	:	72 :	73 :	74 :	75 :	76 :	77 :	78 :	79 :	80 :
81	:	82 :	83 :	84 :	85 :	86 :	87 :	88 :	89 :	90 :
US	ER FUNCT	ION LABEL								······
l	URNAL	PRINT	GROUP			'				
	5	CUT	ALONG TH	e dotted	LINES AND \$	SET THE LAI	BEL (S) TO	THE OPERAT	'ION PANEL	

1. Quick Dial key number

The number of the Quick Dial key the destination is programmed in.

2. Destination

The other party's name or Group name programmed in the Quick Dial.

3

3. The name of an Auto Document

The name for a document programmed as an Auto Document.

4. The name of a program

When a program is stored on the Quick Dial key, the name is printed.

5. The contents of the User Function keys

The contents of the User Function keys is printed.

6. FAX HEADER1 and FAX HEADER2

The name programmed as FAX HEADER1 and FAX HEADER2.

3

Speed Dial

If you program numbers in Speed Dials, you can specify the fax number simply by pressing the **[Speed Dial]** key and entering a three-digit Speed Dial number.

You can program the following items in a Speed Dial:

Destination fax number

You can program the destination fax number using up to 254 digits for each number.

You can also select SUB code, SEP code, SID, PWD (maximum 20 digits), Tone, and Pause. See p.47 "SUB/SID (SUB Code Transmission)", Advanced Features ; p.49 "SEP/PWD (SEP Code Polling Transmission)", Advanced Features ; p.46 "Tone"; and p.46 "Pause".

Destination name

You can program the destination name using up to 20 characters.

Other items

Label Insertion

If you turn Label Insertion on, the receiver name programmed in Speed Dial will be printed on the fax message when it is received at the other end. The name will be printed at the top of the page and will be preceded by "To". See p.58 "Label Insertion", Advanced Features.

• Telephone Directory search letter

You can program a search letter (A/a to Z/z). See p.46 "Telephone Directory", *Advanced Features*. • Select Fax Header You can select to print Fax Header1 or Fax Header2 on fax messages that the other party receives.

Important

We recommend that you print the Speed Dial list and keep it when you program or change a destination. See p.110 "Reports/Lists", Advanced Features.

Limitation

When a programmed Speed Dial is being used for a standby Memory Transmission, the message " This Dial is in Use. Cannot Change. ", or " This Dial is in Use. Cannot Delete. " is displayed and you cannot change or delete the destination for this key.

🖉 Note

Make sure that the machine is in standby mode before performing the following procedures.

Programming

🖉 Note

- □ There are 200 numbers available.
- □ You can specify codes 000 to 199.

Press the [User Tools] key.



User Tools: 1.Counter

2 Press ④ or ⑤ until "2. Fax Features" is displayed.



B Press the **[OK]** key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete 🜗

Confirm that "1. Program / Delete" is displayed.

4 Press the [OK] key.

Program / Delete: 1.Prog. Quick Dial া 🔶

5 Press ④ or ▶ until " 3. Prog. Speed Dial " is displayed.

Program / Delete: 3.Prog.Speed Dial 🚸

6 Press the **[OK]** key.



2 Display the number of the Speed Dial you want to program (000 to 199).

Enter the Speed Dial number with the number keys, or search using or .



🖉 Note

- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.
- □ If a Speed Dial number has already been programmed, the contents are displayed. Press ③ or ⓑ to select an unprogrammed number, and then press the **[OK]** key.

8 Press the [OK] key.



9 Enter a fax number with the number keys.



🖉 Note

- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.
- □ You can redial the number. Press the **[Pause/Redial]** key before entering a fax number with the number keys, and the last 10 fax numbers dialed are displayed. Press ④ or ⑤ to select the fax number you want to specify, and then press the **[OK]** key.

- You can insert a pause by pressing the **[Pause/Redial]** key (you cannot enter a pause before the first digit of a fax number).
- You can program SUB, SEP, SID, and PWD in this step with the Dial Option function. See p.47 "SUB/SID (SUB Code Transmission)", Advanced Features and p.49 "SEP/PWD (SEP Code Polling Transmission)", Advanced Features.



If you do not program the destination name, proceed to step **2**.

1 Enter the destination name.

MOO1[ABC]	70K
[ABC COMPANY	

Reference

p.86 "Entering Characters"

Press the [OK] key.

Enter the search letter (A/a to Z/z) for Telephone Directory.

Speed Dial Dir.: /ok Δ.

Press the **[OK]** key.

The search letter is programmed.



Press ④ or ▷ to select "On" or "Off".

> .abel Insertion: ♠/OK [On] Off

🖉 Note

□ Label insertion allows the destination name that is programmed in Quick Dial or Speed Dial to be printed on the fax when it is received at the other end. See p.58 "Label Insertion", Advanced Features.

Press the [OK] key.



Press ④ or ⑤ to select "Hdr. 1" or "Hdr. 2".

Fax Header: �/ОК [Hdr.2] Hdr.1

18 Press the [OK] key.



If you want to program another Speed Dial number, proceed to step **G**.

Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

Editing

Press the **[User Tools]** key.



User Tools: 1.Counter

2 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features

3 Press the **[OK]** key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete ◀

Confirm that "1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

4 Press the **[OK]** key.

Program / Delete: 1.Prog. Quick Dial

5 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 3. Prog. Speed Dial " is displayed.

Program / Delete: 3.Prog.Speed Dial 🔶

6 Press the **[OK]** key.



7 Display the number of the Speed Dial you want to edit (000 to 199).

Enter the Speed Dial number with the number keys, or search using ④ or ⑤.



8 Press the [OK] key.

8001	F	ľ	е	3	S	0	K
& 1234567890							

If you do not edit the number, proceed to step **D**.

Press the [Clear/Stop] key, and then reenter the fax number with the number keys.



🖉 Note

- □ If you make a mistake, press the **(Clear/Stop)** key and try again.
- **1** Press the **[OK]** key.



If you do not edit the destination name, proceed to step **2**.

Press the [Clear/Stop] key, and then reenter the Destination name.



p.86 "Entering Characters"

Press the [OK] key.

Enter the search letter (A/a to Z/z) for Telephone Directory.

Speed Dial Dir.: /OK [D]

Press the **[OK]** key.

_abel Insertion: ♠/OK On [Off]

Label Insertion: ♠/OK [On] Off

16 Press the [OK] key.

Fax Header: ♦►/OK [Hdr.1] Hdr.2

Press ④ or ⑤ to select "Hdr. 1" or "Hdr. 2".

Fax Header: ♦►/OK Hdr.1 [Hdr.2]

Press the [OK] key.

Program	/ Delete:	
3.Prog.	Speed Dial	•

If you want to edit another Speed Dial number, proceed to step **G**.

Press the **[User Tools]** key.

The standby display reappears.

Deleting

Press the [User Tools] key.



Confirm that "1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

4 Press the [OK] key.

Program	/ Delete:	
1.Prog.	Quick Dial	•

5 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 4. Delete Speed Dial " is displayed.

Program / Delete: 4.Delete Speed Dial 🚸

6 Press the [OK] key.

Enter No.to Delete [◙∎∎∎] (Browse∢)

2 Display the Speed Dial number you want to delete (000 to 199).

Enter the Speed Dial number with the number keys or search using O or D.

8 Press the [OK] key.

The programmed data (fax number and name) is deleted.

Program / Delete:	
4.Delete Speed Dial	•

If you want to delete another Speed Dial number, proceed to step **G**.

9 Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

3

Groups

If you regularly broadcast originals to the same set of destinations, you can combine these numbers into a group. Then just select the group and each number will be dialed in sequence automatically.

You can enter destination numbers using Quick Dial keys, Speed Dials, or the number keys.

You can program the following items in a Group:

Destination fax numbers (up to 250 numbers for each group)

You can program the destination fax number using up to 254 digits for each number.

Group name

You can program the group name using up to 20 characters.

∰Important

□ It is recommended that you print the Group Dial list and keep it after programming or editing Groups. See p.110 "Reports/Lists", Advanced Features.

Programming

There are two ways of programming Groups:

Programming groups in Quick Dial keys

If you program a group in a Quick Dial key, you can specify that group by pressing the Quick Dial key. However, if you use Quick Dial keys to program groups, you will be able to program fewer Quick Dial keys.

🖉 Note

You cannot program another function in a Quick Dial key already used for a group. Also, you cannot program groups in a Quick Dial key already used for another function.

Assigning groups to the Group Dial key

Use the User Function key with the Group Dial function programmed in. You need to assign the Group Dial function to a User Function key beforehand. Group Dial is assigned to **[F3]** as a default. See p.105 "User Function Keys", *Advanced Features*.

To send a fax, press the Group Dial key, and then enter the group number (1 to 9). To specify a group using a Group Dial key, one more step is required than when using a Quick Dial key. However, multiple groups can be programmed in a Group Dial key, thus leaving the Quick Dial keys to be used more effectively.

\mathcal{P} Reference

p.49 "Using Group Dials"

🖉 Note

- Make sure that the machine is in standby mode before performing the following procedures.
- □ You can program up to nine groups.
- The maximum number of destinations you can program in a group is 250.
- The combined maximum number of destinations you can program in all groups is 390. This number can be composed of up to 90 Quick Dial numbers, 200 Speed Dial numbers, and 100 numbers entered directly with the number keys.
- □ If you program 100 destinations with the number keys, Memory Transmission using the number keys becomes unavailable, and only Immediate Transmission is available.
- If you program a group with the number keys when a file is waiting to be transmitted, a message is displayed. You sometimes cannot program any more destinations even when the number of specified destination is 99 or less.
- □ It is recommended that you print the Group Dial list and keep it when you program or change destinations. See p.110 "Reports/Lists", *Advanced Features*.
- If you program the same destination in different groups, it is only counted as one item.

□ The table below shows how to count numbers.

Group1	Group2	Total Number of items
Quick Dial [01]	Quick Dial [01]	8
Quick Dial [03]		
Quick Dial [05]	Quick Dial [05]	
Speed Dial [04]	Speed Dial [04]	
Speed Dial [06]		
	Speed Dial [09]	
Number keys 12345678	Number keys 12345678	
Number keys 87654321		*

PReference

p.45 "Limitations When Dialing with the Number Keys"

Press the [User Tools] key.





2	Press	ⓓ	or	⊚	until	"2.	Fax	Fea-
	tures"	' is	dis	pla	yed.			

User Tools: 2.Fax Features

0

Press the **[OK]** key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete 🜗

Confirm that "1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

4 Press the [OK] key.

Program	/ Delete:	
1.Prog.	Quick Dial	•

5 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 5. Prog. Group Dial " is displayed.

Program / Delete: 5.Prog. Group Dial 41

6 Press the [OK] key.

Enter No.	/ Press Key
[Gp.D <mark>_</mark>]	(Browse♠)

7 Display the number of the Group you want to program (1 to 9).

Enter the group number with the number keys, or search using or .



🖉 Note

□ If a group has already been programmed, the contents are displayed. Press ④ or ⑤ to select a group number that is not programmed, and then press the **[OK]** key. 8 Press the [OK] key.



9 Specify the destination using one of the following three methods:

Enter the fax number with the number keys.



Press a Quick Dial key.

Gp.D1:#1	Press	OK
🖀 🛛 01 🗛 🔂	COMPANY	

Press the **[Speed Dial]** key, and then enter a Speed Dial number.

Gp.D1:#1 Press OK ☎월000 London office

🖉 Note

- □ If you make a mistake, press the **[Clear/Stop]** key and try again.
- □ You can use "Redial" when specifying the destination. See p.46 "Redial", *Advanced Features*.
- □ To enter "-", press the **[Pause/Re**dial] key.
- □ You can program SUB, SEP, SID, and PWD in this step with the Dial Option function. See p.47 "SUB/SID (SUB Code Transmission)", Advanced Features and p.49 "SEP/PWD (SEP Code Polling Transmission)", Advanced Features.



Confirm that "Add" is selected.

Press the **[OK]** key.



- Repeat steps **9** to **10** for all the destinations you want to program in the Group.
- If you finished adding a destination, press the ④ or to select " Exit ".

Press the **[OK]** key.



If you do not program the Group name, proceed to step **1**.

1 Enter the Group name.



p.86 "Entering Characters"

Press the [OK] key.

Assign	to Key?	♦/0K
Yes	[No]	

 Press (a) or (b) to select whether to assign the Group to a Quick Dial key.

Assign	to Key?	●/0K
[Yes]	No	

If you want to assign the Group to a Quick Dial key, select "Yes".

If you do not, select "No", and then proceed to step \overline{M} .

Press the [OK] key.



Press the Quick Dial key you want to program the Group in.



20 Press the **[OK]** key.



2 Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

Editing

You can edit the group name or add destinations for programmed groups. To edit a destination:

For destinations programmed in **Quick Dial or Speed Dial**

Edit the contents of the programmed Quick Dial or Speed Dial. See p.62 "Quick Dial" and p.71 "Speed Dial".

For destinations programmed with number keys

Delete the destination you want to edit from the group, and then program the new destination.

Note

□ When a programmed Group is being used for a standby Memory Transmission, you cannot edit the group name or add destinations for the group.

Press the [User Tools] key.



User Tools: .Counter

41

2 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features

3 Press the **(OK)** key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete

Confirm that "1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

4 Press the **(OK)** key.

Program / Delete: 1.Prog. Quick Dial

5 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 5. Prog. Group Dial " is displayed.

Prog<mark>ram / Delete:</mark> 5.Prog. Group Dial

6 Press the [OK] key.

Enter No. / Press Kev [Gp.D] (Browse♠)

Display the number of the Group you want to edit (1 to 9).

Enter the group number with the number keys, or search using \bigcirc or \bigcirc .



⁸ Press the **[OK]** key.

Change	Dest.?:	♦/0K
[Yes]	No	

Confirm that "Yes" is selected.

If you do not add a destination, press ⓓ or Ď to select "No", and then proceed to step **E**.

9 Press the [OK] key.



Confirm that "Add" is selected.



1 Specify the destination using one of the following three methods:

Enter the fax number with the number keys.



Press a Quick Dial key.

Gp.D1:#4	Press	ΟK
☎ 01 ABC	COMPANY	

Press the **[Speed Dial]** key and enter a Speed Dial number.

Gp.D1:#4	Press OK
☎ 8000 London	office

🖉 Note

□ You can use "Redial" when specifying the destination. See p.46 "Redial", *Advanced Features*.

Press the [OK] key.

Program? ●/OK [Add] Delete Exit

Confirm that "Add" is selected.

- To add another destination, repeat steps () to ().
- If you finished adding a destination, press the ④ or to select "Exit".



Press the [OK] key.



Programmed Group name is displayed.

If you do not edit the Group name, proceed to step **[**].

1 Press the **[Clear/Stop]** key, and then enter another name.



Press the **[OK]** key.

Press (a) or (b) to select whether to assign the Group to a Quick Dial key.



If you want to assign the Group to a Quick Dial key, select "Yes".

If you do not, select "No", and then proceed to step **[**].

Perform one of the following procedures:

When the group was assigned to a Quick Dial key

Press ③ or ⑤ to select whether to change the assigned Quick Dial key.

Change	Quick	Dial02
[Yes]	No	

If you want to assign the Group to another Quick Dial key, select "Yes".

If you do not, select "No", and then proceed to step **2**.

Press Quick Dial Key (Browse**∢**)

When the group was not assigned to a Quick Dial key

Press the [OK] key.



Press the Quick Dial key you want to assign the Group.



Press the [OK] key.

Program / Delete: 5.Prog.Group Dial ∢

If you want to edit another Group, proceed to step **[**].

Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

Deleting

🖉 Note

- When a programmed Group is being used for a standby Memory Transmission, you cannot delete the destination for the Group.
- When you delete a destination from a group programmed in a Quick Dial or a Speed Dial, the contents of the Quick Dial or Speed Dial are not deleted.



The following procedure describes how to delete a destination from a group.

Press the [User Tools] key.



User Tools: 1.Counter 🛛 🔶

2 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools:	
2.Fax Features	•

B Press the **[OK]** key.

Fax Features:	
1.Program / Delete	•

Confirm that " 1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

5 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 5. Prog. Group Dial " is displayed.

Program / Delete: 5.Prog.Group Dial 🚸

6 Press the [OK] key.

Enter No.	/ Press Key
[Gp.D _]	(Browse♠)

7 Display the group number for the destination you want to delete (1 to 9).

Enter the group number with the number keys, or search using O or D.



8 Press the [OK] key.

Change Dest.?: ♠/OK [Yes] No

Confirm that "Yes" is selected.

9 Press the **[OK]** key.

Program? ●/OK [Add] Delete Exit





Press the **[OK]** key.

Select Destination with ♠

Press () or () to display the destination you want to delete.

B Press the [OK] key.



To delete another destination, repeat steps **(**) to **(**).

Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

To delete an entire group

The following procedure describes how to delete all destinations from a Group.

Press the [User Tools] key.



User Tools: 1.Counter ◆

2	Press (or	🕑 until	"	2.	Fax	Fea-
	tures " is di	splayed.				

User Tools: 2.Fax Features

Press the [OK] key.

Fax Features: 1.Program / Delete 🜗

Confirm that "1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

4 Press the [OK] key.

Program	/ Delete:	
1.Prog.	Quick Dial	•

5 Press **(a)** or **(b)** until " 6. Delete Group Dial " is displayed.

```
Program / Delete:
6.Delete Group Dial �
```

6 Press the [OK] key.

Enter No.	/ Press Key
[Gp.D	(Browse♠)

7 Display the number of the group you want to delete (1 to 9).

Enter the group number with the number keys, or search using O or O.



8 Press the [OK] key.

Program / Delete: 6.Delete Group Dial 🚸

9 Press the [User Tools] key.

The standby display reappears.

Entering Characters

This section describes how to enter characters.

Available Characters

- Letters: ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWXYZabcdefghijklmnopqrstuvwxyz
- Symbols:
 _(space)...() / @ & \$!" ' # ★ % + :; < = > ? ^ [] ` { | } ~
- Numbers: 0123456789

Keys

The following illustration is for Type1.



1. () or ()

Use to move the cursor left or right and to select a symbol.

2. [OK] key

Press to program entered characters.

3. Quick Dial keys

Press these keys to enter upper and lower case letters.

There are four types of keyboard layout. See p.162 "Key Layout", *Advanced Features* .

QWERTY layout

_					. Г	r	_				
0	W	E	R	Т	11	L	Ý	U		0	P
01	02	03	04	05	ľ	ł	06	07	08	09	10
F^	ŝ	D	F	G	NL	l	н	л ^ј	К	II L	
11	12	13	14	15	íl	l	16	17	18	19	20
ABC/at	c Z	X	C II	V) ŀ	ł	B	N	M		Symbols
21	22	23	24	25	Í	l	26	27	28	29	30
											7HMS140

• ABCDEF layout

					١N					
A	8	C	D	E		F	6	н	11	1
01	02	03	04	06	ľΗ	06	07	08	09	10
К	L .	. M	N	0	111	P	. °	R	s	T I
<u> </u>	110	110	111	110	א א		142	110	140	
	12	13	14	15		10	17	10	18	20
U	V	W	X	Y	ìН	Z			Symbol	s ABC/abc
21	22	23	24	25	í	26	27	28	29	30
		_								
										ZHMS1

• QWERTZ layout

	R T	
01 02 03	P4 05	
11 12 13 ABC/abc Y X	14 15 C V	16 17 18 19 20 B N M Symbols
21 22 23	24 25	26 27 28 29 30

AZERT layout

02 03 04 05
a s p F a
12 13 14 15
BC/abc W X C V
22 23 24 25
BC/abc W X C V 22 23 24 25

4. [ABC/abc] key (Quick Dial 21, 51, or 81)

Use to switch between upper and lower case.

5. Space key (Quick Dial 29, 59, or 89)

Press to enter a space.

6. [Symbols] key (Quick Dial 30, 60, or 90)

Press to enter symbols.

7. Number keys

Use to enter numbers.

8. [Clear/Stop] key

Deletes the character at the cursor position. If the cursor is placed to the right of the last character at the right end of a line, that character will be deleted.

How to Enter Characters

The following procedure describes how to enter characters.

🖉 Note

When you enter a character, it is displayed at the position of the cursor. If there is a character at the cursor position, the entered character is displayed before the character.

1 Enter letters, symbols, or numbers.

Characters are entered and the cursor moves.

- For letters, press the Quick Dial keys.
- For symbols, press the [Symbols] key and (a) or (b) to select the symbol, and then press the [OK] key.
- For numbers, press the number keys.

🖉 Note

- □ When you make a mistake, press the [Clear/Stop] key.
- When you want to insert a character, move the cursor to the character right of the position you want to enter the character, and enter the character. The inserted character is displayed left of the cursor position.

2 Press the **[OK]** key.

Wild Cards

When you program other parties' Own Name or Own Fax Numbers for multiple destinations, you can program a sequence of characters common to these identifications as a wild card instead of programming every identification.

If a destination has an Own Name or Own Fax Number containing a wild card, the machine determines that the destination matches the registered destination.

Not using a wild card

Destination to be registered (Own Name)	Number of pro- grammed identifica- tions
NEW YORK BRANCH	3
HONG KONG BRANCH	
SYDNEY BRANCH	

Using a wild card

Destination to be	Number of pro-
registered (Own	grammed identifica-
Name)	tions
BRANCH	1

🖉 Note

- □ You can program up to 50 wild cards.
- Spaces are neglected when the machine compares identifications.
- You can use wild cards for the following functions:
 - Authorized Reception See p.123 "Authorized Reception", Advanced Features.

- Memory Lock See p.125 "Memory Lock", Advanced Features.
- Multi Copy Reception See p.127 "Multi-copy Reception", Advanced Features.
- Specified Tray See p.130 "Specified Tray", Advanced Features.
- Two-sided Reception See p.132 "Two-sided Reception", *Advanced Features*.
- Forwarding See p.136 "Forwarding", Advanced Features.

.

88

4. Troubleshooting

Loading Paper in the Main Paper Tray

If there is no paper in the main paper tray, the 🛓 indicator on the control panel lights.

Use the following procedure to load paper.

∰Important

- When loading paper, be careful not to pinch your fingers inside the machine.
- Before loading paper, make sure that the machine is not delivering a copy or a received fax message.
- Do not use stapled paper or conductive paper, such as carbon paper or silver coated paper.

🖉 Note

- □ You can load up to 250 sheets in the main paper tray.
- Regarding paper types and sizes that can be used, see p.208 "Recommended paper sizes and types", Advanced Features.
- **1** Pull out the main paper tray until it stops.

2 Push the metal plate down, and then square the paper and load it into the tray.



∰Important

Do not stack paper over the limit mark.



🖉 Note

- □ Fan the paper before setting it in the tray.
- Push the main paper tray in until it stops.

Replacing the Toner Cartridge

When the Add Toner indicator (1) starts to blink, the toner cartridge is almost empty. About 50 pages can be printed while the Add Toner indicator blinks, but replace the toner cartridge soon.

When the Add Toner indicator (()) remains lit, printing is not possible.

- A WARNING:
- Do not incinerate spilled toner or used toner. Toner dust might ignite when exposed to an open flame.
- Dispose of the used toner cartridge in accordance with the local regulations.

A CAUTION:

 Keep toner (used or unused) and toner cartridges out of the reach of children.

∰Important

- Used toner cartridges can be recycled. Please contact the seller of this machine.
- Make sure the power is turned on when replacing the toner cartridge.
- Always use toner cartridges recommended specifically for this model. Using any other type could damage the machine.
- Do not leave the front cover open for a protracted length of time. Exposing the toner cartridge to light for an extended period of time may cause it to deteriorate, so replace the cartridge as quickly as possible.
- Do not position the toner cartridge upside down or at an angle.

1 Open the front cover.



2 Push the lever (①) and pull out the old toner cartridge holding ① and ②.



3 Prepare the new toner cartridge.

Hold the cartridge horizontally and shake it gently from side to side a few times.



4 Remove the tape from the toner cartridge.



5 Insert the toner cartridge and make sure it locks securely into place.







Important

The front cover will not close properly if the toner cartridge is set into the machine incorrectly. If the cover will not close, remove the cartridge and set it again.

Toner Cartridge Storage

Do not incinerate spilled toner or used toner. Toner dust might ignite when exposed to an open flame.

Dispose of the used toner cartridge in accordance with the local regulations.

Keep toner (used or unused) and toner cartridge out of the reach of children.

- Store in a cool, dark place.
- Never store where they may be exposed to heat.
- Keep out of the reach of children.
- Do not eat toner.
- Do not lay heavy objects on toner cartridge.
- Do not incinerate toner or toner containers. Toner dust may cause flashback when exposed to an open flame.

Adjusting Volume

You can change the volume of the following sounds the machine makes:

On Hook

Sounds when you press the **[On Hook Dial]** key.

Transmission

Sounds when the machine sends a message.

Reception

Sounds when the machine receives a message.

Dialing

After pressing the **[Start]** key, this sound is made until the line connects to the destination.

Key Tone

Sounds when keys on the Control Panel are pressed.

Alarm

Sounds as a warning.

🖉 Note

□ When using On Hook Dial, you can adjust the volume on the display by pressing the **[On Hook Dial]** key. See p.51 "On Hook Dial", *Advanced Features*.

□ You can assign the Monitor Volume function to a User Function key. See p.105 "User Function Keys", *Advanced Features*. When you press the User Function key with this function programmed in, proceed to step **G** in the following procedure.

Make sure that the machine is in standby mode before performing the following procedure.

Press the [User Tools] key.





2 Press ④ or ⑤ until " 2. Fax Features " is displayed.

User Tools: 2.Fax Features 🛛 🚸

Press the [OK] key.



Confirm that "1. Program / Delete " is displayed.

4 Press ④ or ⓑ until " 3. Setup " is displayed.

Fax Features: 3.Setup 🛛 🔶

5 Press the **[OK]** key.

Setup:		
1.Monitor	Volume	•

Confirm that "1. Monitor Volume " is displayed.

Monitor Volume: 1.On Hook

7 Press ④ or ⑤ to select the item you want to adjust, and then press the **[OK]** key.



8 Press (1) or (2) to adjust the volume.



9 Press the **[OK]** key.

Monitor Volume: 1.On Hook

If you want to adjust another item, repeat steps **7** to **9**.

Press the **[User Tools]** key.

The standby display reappears.

.

Emit a Beep When a Communication Is Complete

If you set "Emit a beep when a communication is complete" on with the User Parameters (switch 01, bit 6), a beep will be emitted when a communication is complete. This is useful for knowing when a fax message has been received or a transmission is complete. See p.146 "User Parameters", Advanced Features.

Clearing Original Jams

If an original is jammed, the ${\mbox{\bf h}}$ indicator blinks and "Clear Misfed Original(s)" is displayed.

Perform the following procedure to clear the jammed original.

1 Open the ADF cover.



2 While pushing the release button, lift the ADF unit.



B Remove the original.



4 Close the ADF unit and ADF cover making sure they click firmly into place.

Clearing a Copy, Fax, or Print Jam

If a copy, fax, or printed paper is jammed, the **h** indicator blinks and "Clear Misfed Paper" is displayed.

Perform the following procedure to clear the jammed paper.

The inside of the machine could be very hot. Do not touch the parts with a label indicating the "hot surface". Otherwise an injury might occur.

Important

□ The fusing unit and surrounding area inside the machine becomes hot during printing. To avoid injury when removing paper jams, do not touch any parts other than those specified in this manual.

Note

□ If paper jams occur in the optional paper tray unit, see p.179 "Clearing a Paper Jam in the Optional Paper Tray Unit", Advanced Features.

1 Open the right cover.



2 Open the blue cover.



B Pull out the jammed paper.



When paper is caught in the lower unit

1 Pull out the jammed paper.



When paper is caught in the right cover

• Pull out the jammed paper.



4 Close the right cover making sure it clicks firmly into place.

4

Error Messages

The following messages may appear while you are operating or programming the machine.

Message	Causes and Solutions
No Files Exist	 One of the following: There are no documents in memory waiting for transmission. Incorrect file number is entered. Check the file number and try again. No polling reception operations have been pro-
	grammed.
Cannot Combine : (currently se- lected function)	Appears when you attempt to select a function that cannot be used in combination with another currently selected function.
This Key is in Use as a Group Dial	This Quick Dial key has a Group stored in it.
This Key is in Use as a Program	This Quick Dial key has a Keystroke Program stored in it.
This Key is in Use as a Quick Dial	This Quick Dial key has a Quick Dial stored in it.
This Key is in Use as an Auto Doc- ument	This Quick Dial key has an Auto Document stored in it.
This Key is Not Programmed	One of the following:This Quick Dial key does not contain a number.This Quick Dial key does not contain a Keystroke Program.
This Speed Dial No. is Not Pro- grammed	This Speed Dial number does not contain a number.
This Dest. is Already Selected	One of the following:This number is already included in this Group.The same destination was specified more than once.
Insert Pause "-" After Area Code	You must add a pause after your area code when you input your fax terminal's own telephone number.
Communication Failed	A communication was not successful.
Please Change The Remote ID.	The Requesting Party entered the wrong Remote ID five times successively while making a Remote Transfer Re- quest to the Transfer Station (your machine).
Load Paper	Paper is loaded in none of the paper trays.
Clear Misfed Original(s)	A original is jammed in the ADF.
Clear Misfed Paper	Paper is jammed in the printer.
Close Front/Right Cover	The front cover or right cover is not closed properly.
Close Lower Right Cover	The lower right cover is not closed properly.

Message	Causes and Solutions		
Close ADF Cover	The ADF cover is not closed properly.		
Machine is in Use. Please Wait	Machine cannot print a list/file, because the plotter is not ready.		
Call Service	Machine is out of order. Contact your service representa- tive.		
This Dial is in Use. Cannot Delete. This Dial is in Use. Cannot Change.	This Quick Dial or Speed Dial is being used (such as for a standby Memory Transmission).		
Some Page(s) are Blank	An almost entirely blank document was scanned. Check your document.		
Time to Change PCU	Replace the PCU.		
Reset PCU Correctly	The PCU is not set correctly.		
Toner is Almost Empty	The toner cartridge is nearly empty.		
Replace Toner	The toner cartridge is empty. Install a new cartridge.		
Copy Mode Locked	Copy mode is disabled. Enable it with the User Parameters.		
Replace ADF Maintenance Kit	Replace the ADF Maintenance Kit.		
Clean Contact Glass and White Strip	Wipe the contact glass and the white strip.		

Indicators

Problem	Causes	Solutions
🖆 is lit red.	Paper has run out	Load paper.
		See p.89 "Loading Paper in the Main Paper Tray".
🛓 is lit red.	Toner is exhausted	Replace the toner cartridge.
		See p.90 "Replacing the Toner Car- tridge".
		Note
		Even if there is no toner left, you can still send fax messages.
h is lit red.	Paper is jammed	Remove the jammed paper.
		See p.95 "Clearing Original Jams" and p.96 "Clearing a Copy, Fax, or Print Jam".
h is lit red.	Cover is open	Close the cover.
The Receive File indicator is lit.	You have received a mes- sage into memory. (Substi- tute Reception)	Print the message stored in memory if it is not printed out automatically. See p.73 "Substitute Reception", <i>Ad-</i> <i>vanced Features</i> .

Solving Problems

Problem	Solutions	Reference
Cannot transmit or receive.	The telephone line may have become disconnected. Make sure it is correctly con- nected.	p.200 "Connecting to a Telephone Line", Advanced Features
The data stored in the ma- chine memory (Memory Transmission/Reception, Substitute Reception, or Auto Document; or data of other standby document) has been deleted.	Check the Power Failure Report, and then request the sender to send the deleted fax message again or store the deleted document into memory once more.	p.180 "Power Failure Report", Ad- vanced Features
Multiple sheets are fed into the ADF at the same time, or the original will not feed in at all.	If the original is too thick, too thin, or the back surface is slippery, it might not be fed into the ADF properly. Only set appropriate types of originals in the ADF.	p.207 "Acceptable Types of Originals", <i>Advanced Features</i>
Image background appears dirty when received at the other end.	Adjust the scan density.	p.42 "Scan Settings"
Printed or sent image con- tains black lines or spots.	The ADF is dirty. Make sure that ink or eraser is dry be- fore setting originals.	p.187 "Cleaning the Scanner", Ad- vanced Features
Message appears blank at the other end.	The original was placed with the wrong side facing down. Place it with the op- posite side facing down.	p.31 "Placing Originals"
Received image is too light.	Request the sender to in- crease the image density.	p.207 "Acceptable Types of Origi- nals", Advanced Features
	When using moist, rough or processed paper, the print- ed image may be hard to see. Only use recommended paper types.	
	When the is blinking, toner is beginning to run out. Replace the toner cartridge soon.	p.90 "Replacing the Toner Car- tridge"

This table lists some common problems and their solutions.

Problem	Solutions	Reference
You cannot add any desti- nations to a Group even though the maximum ca- pacity does not seem to have been reached.	100 destinations have been programmed with the number keys. Program ad- ditional destinations with Quick Dials or Speed Dials instead.	p.47 "Using Quick Dials" or p.48 "Using Speed Dials"
Cannot print onto paper even though it is of an ap- propriate size.	Make sure the paper size de- tection plate for the main paper tray or optional paper tray unit matches the paper size actually loaded in that tray or unit.	p.184 "Changing the Paper Size", Advanced Features
Some part of a copied image is missing.	Check that the original is placed correctly.	p.31 "Placing Originals"
	Select the correct sized pa- per.	p.208 "Recommended paper sizes and types", <i>Advanced Features</i>
Cannot have messages or copies printed on both sides of paper.	Specify the tray for which Two-Sided Printing is turned on.	p.114 "Paper Tray for Two-sided Printing", Advanced Features
When you turn the power on, the high-pitched alarm sounds and nothing is shown on the display.	The optional 40MB memory card may not be inserted properly. Turn the power off, and then install the op- tional 40MB memory card properly. If the alarm sounds when you turn the power on after installing the optional 40MB memory card properly, contact your service representative.	p.202 "40MB Memory Card", Advanced Features
When Things Don't Go as Expected

This table lists operations which allow you to cancel Memory Transmission, Immediate Transmission, or copying, or to exit Energy Saver Mode.

Problem	Solutions	Reference
You want to cancel a Memo- ry Transmission.	If the original is being scanned, press the [Clear/Stop] key.	p.36 "Canceling a Memory Trans- mission"
	After the original is has been scanned, press the [Job Information] key.	
You want to cancel Immedi- ate Transmission.	Press the [Clear/Stop] key.	p.41 "Canceling an Immediate Transmission"
You want to cancel copying.	Press the [Stop] key.	p.85 "Copying", Advanced Features
You want to exit Energy Saver Mode.	Press the [Clear Modes/Energy Saver] key or place an origi- nal.	p.26 "Exiting Energy Saver Mode"

Printing the Help List

Press the **[Help]** key and **[Start]** key to print a copy of the Help List which contains brief descriptions about the following features:

- Immediate/Memory Transmission
- Canceling Memory Transmission
- Programming/Clearing Quick Dials
- Printing lists of Quick Dials and User Function keys
- Programming/Clearing Speed Dials
- Printing the Speed Dial List
- Printing the Journal
- Printing the Quick Dial Key Label and User Function Key Label

INDEX

300 × 300 dpi, 42

A

Add Toner indicator, 22 ADF, 32 ADF cover, 18 Adjusting Volume *Alarm*, 93 *Dialing*, 93 *Key Tone*, 93 *On Hook*, 93 *Reception*, 93 *Transmission*, 93 Advanced Features (on CD-ROM), 14 Auto Document Feeder (ADF), 18 Auto Receive, 52

В

Basic Features (this manual), 14 Bypass tray unit, 18

С

Cancel key, 21 Characters *Available Characters*, 86 *Entering*, 86 *Keys*, 86 Clearing a Copy, Fax, or Print Jam, 96 Clear Modes key, 22 Clear/Stop key, 23 Color Scan, 22 Components, 18 Control panel, 18, 21 Copy key, 22 CSI→Own Fax Number, 55

D

Deleting Groups, 83 Quick Dial, 66 Speed Dial, 75 Detail, 42 Dialing, 45 Entering Numbers Directly, 45 Using Group Dials, 49 Using Quick Dials, 47 Using Speed Dials, 48 Dial label, 67 Display, 21

Ε

Editing Groups, 81 Quick Dial, 65 Speed Dial, 74 Energy Saver/Clear Modes key, 22 Energy Saver key, 22 Entering Characters, 86 Error Messages, 98 External telephone connector, 20 Extra Super Fine, 42

F

Fax Header, 55 Faxing, 29 Front cover, 18 Front View, 18

G

G3 line connector, 20 Getting Started, 17 Groups, 49,77 Deleting, 83 Dialing, 49 Editing, 81 Programming, 77

Н

Halftone, 22 Help key, 21 How to Read This Manual, 12 I

Immediate Transmission, 29, 39 *Canceling*, 41 Indicators, 100

J

Job Information key, 21

L

Loading Paper, 89 Load Paper Indicator, 22 Lower right cover, 18 Low-power Mode, 7

М

Machine Types, 17 Main Paper Tray, 89 Main paper tray, 18 Manual Receive, 52, 53 Manuals for This Machine, 14 Memory card slot, 20 Memory Trans. key, 22 Memory Transmission, 29, 34 *Canceling*, 36

Ν

Notice, 3 Number keys, 23 *Dialing*, 45

0

OK key, 21 On Hook Dial key, 23 Optional paper tray unit, 18 Original guide, 19 Original output tray, 19 Original output tray guide, 19 Original Type, 42, 44 Original Type key, 22 Output tray, 18 Output tray guide, 19 Own Fax Number, 55 Own Name, 55

Ρ

Pause, 46 Pause/Redial key, 23 Placing Originals, 31 Power, 19 Printing the Help List, 104 Programming *Fax Header*, 55 *Groups*, 77 *Own Fax Number*, 55 *Own Name*, 55 *Quick Dial*, 63 *Speed Dial*, 72

Q

Quick Dial, 62 Deleting, 66 Dialing, 47 Dial label, 67 Editing, 65 Programming, 63 Quick Dial Key Flip Plate, 22 Quick Dial keys, 22

R

Reading the Display, 23 Receive File Indicator, 22 Reception *Receiving Messages in Manual Receive*, 53 Reception Modes *Auto Receive*, 52 *Manual Receive*, 52 *Selecting*, 52 Release button, 18 Replacing the Toner Cartridge, 90 Resolution, 42 Resolution key, 22 Restricted Access, 27 Right cover, 19 RTI→Own Name, 55 S

Scan Settings, 42 Side View, 19 Solving Problems, 101 Speed Dial, 71, 72, 74, 75 *Dialing*, 48 *Editing*, 74 *Programming*, 72 Speed Dial key, 23 Stamp key, 22 Standard, 42 Start key, 23 Status indicators, 19 Super Fine, 42

Т

tonal signals, 46 Tone, 46 Toner Cartridge *Replacing*, 90 *Storage*, 92 Transmission Modes, 29 Trans. Option key, 21 Troubleshooting, 89 *Error Messages*, 98 TTI→Fax Header, 55

U

User Function keys, 21 User Tools key, 21

V

Ventilation Hole, 20 Volume, 93

W

When Things Don't Go as Expected, 103 Wild Cards, 88

MEMO

CE

Declaration of Conformity

Notice to Users in EEA Countries

This product complies with the essential requirements and provisions of Directive 1999/5/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 9 March 1999 on radio equipment and telecommunications terminal equipment and the mutual recognition of their conformity.

Notice to Users Accessing Analog PSTN in EEA Countries

This product is designed to be able to access analog PSTN in all EEA countries. Local PSTN compatibility is dependent on software switch settings. Please contact your service representative if relocating this product to another country. In the event of problems, please contact your service representative in the first instance.

The CE Declaration of Conformity is available on the Internet at URL: http://www.ricoh.co.jp/fax/ ce_doc/.

In accordance with IEC 60417, this machine uses the following symbols for the main power switch:

- means POWER ON.
- O means POWER OFF.



RICOH COMPANY, LTD.

15-5, Minami Aoyama 1-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 107-8544, Japan Phone: +81-(0)3-3479-3111

Ricoh shall not be responsible for any damage or expense that might result from the use of parts other than genuine Ricoh parts with your Ricoh office products.

For good copy quality, Ricoh recommends that you use genuine Ricoh toner.

TONER CARTRIDGES

RICOH FAX TONER CARTRIDGE TYPE 1260 BLACK is recommended for the best performance.

Overseas Affiliates

U.S.A.

RICOH CORPORATION 5 Dedrick Place West Caldwell, New Jersey 07006 Phone: +1-973-882-2000

The Netherlands

RICOH EUROPE B.V. Groenelaan 3, 1186 AA, Amstelveen Phone: +31-(0)20-5474111

United Kingdom

RICOH UK LTD. Ricoh House, 1 Plane Tree Crescent, Feltham, Middlesex, TW13 7HG Phone: +44-(0)20-8261-4000

Germany

RICOH DEUTSCHLAND GmbH Mergenthalerallee 38-40, 65760 Eschborn Phone: +49-(0)6196-9060

France

RICOH FRANCE S.A. 383, Avenue du Général de Gaulle BP 307-92143 Clamart Cedex Phone: +33-(0)-821-01-74-26

Spain

RICOH ESPAÑA S.A. Avda. Litoral Mar, 12-14, 08005 Barcelona Phone: +34-(0)93-295-7600

Italy

RICOH ITALIA SpA Via della Metallurgia 12, 37139 Verona Phone: +39-045-8181500

Hong Kong

RICOH HONG KONG LTD. 21/F., Tai Yau Building, 181, Johnston Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong Phone: +852-2862-2888

Singapore

RICOH ASIA PACIFIC PTE.LTD. 260 Orchard Road, #15-01/02 The Heeren, Singapore 238855 Phone: +65-830-5888